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Pharmacy Permit No. PHY 45269,

and 

CAROL MARIE ZALEZ-SIMON, 
Pharmacist No. RPH 41523, 

Respondents.

Case No. 2683 

OAH No. L2003120195 

DECISION AFTER REMAND FROM SUPERIOR COURT 

Daniel Juarez, Administrative Law Judge with the Office of Administrative Hearings, 
heard this matter on July 18-20, and 23-27, 2007, in Los Angeles, California. 

Michel W. Valentine, Deputy Attorney General, represented Virginia K. Herold 
(Complainant), Acting Executive Officer of the Board of Pharmacy (the Board). Patricia F. 
Harris was the Board's Executive Officer and the original complainant when the 
Accusation was signed, on October 21,2003. 

Victor Sherman, Attorney at Law, Victor Sherman & Janet Sherman, represented 
Carol Marie Zalez-Simon (Respondent Simon). Respondent Simon was present during 
each day of hearing. 

Hemal Master, Attorney at Law, Frandzel Robins Bloom & Csato, represented 
Respondent TOT Pharmacy (Respondent TOT). 

At hearing, Complainant amended the Accusation (dated October 21,2003) as 
follows. On page 11, line 19, the date, "July 24,2002" was replaced with "June 24,2002." 
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The proposed decision of the Administrative Law Judge was submitted to the Board 
on August 23, 2007. After due consideration thereof, the Board declined to adopt said 
proposed decision and thereafter on November 5, 2007 issued a Notice of NonAdoption of 
Proposed Decision and subsequently issued an Order Fixing Date for Submission of 
Written Argument on May 6, 2008 and an Amended Order Fixing Date for Submission of 
Written Argument on May 16, 2008. On July 17, 2008, the Board issued its Decision After 
Nonadoption ordering Respondent Simon's license revoked effective August 18, 2008. 
Respondent TOT Pharmacy's license was revoked, stayed and placed on five years' 
probation subject to terms and conditions. 

Respondent Simon subsequently filed a petition for a writ of mandate on or about 
September 17, 2008, in Los Angeles County Superior Court (Carol Marie Zalez-Simon v. 
California Board of Pharmacy, Case No. BS116965). On June 11,2009, the Superior Court 
ruled on the petition for writ of mandate, granting the petition only in part with respect to the 
findings regarding Cause Nine of the Accusation (gross negligence in permitting early refills 
to a patient), and denying the remainder of the petition. The Superior Court directed the 
Board's counsel to prepare a proposed judgment and a writ consistent with the ruling. The 
judgment and writ issued on July 6, 2009, commanding the Board to consider the issue of 
appropriate discipline with the removal of "Cause Nine" (regarding gross negligence) as a 

. ground for discipline. . 

On July 30, 2009, the Board served an "Order Fixing Date for Submission of Written 
Argument" on both parties. The parties were advised that "any written argument that the 
parties wish to present" must be filed with the Board by August 31,2009, but that "no new 
evidence may be submitted." Both parties provided written argument at the time set by th.e 
Board for receiving such argument prior to its deliberations. The entire record, including 
the transcript of said hearing and written argument, has been read and considered by the 
Board. 

Having reconsidered the matter in light of the Superior Court's ruling, the Board now 

sets aside its July 17, 2008 decision with respect to Respondent Simon and makes a 

modified decision 1 and order in compliance with the Judgment dated July 6, 2009 and the 

"Ruling on Submitted Matter" (statement of decision) dated June 11, 2009. A copy of the 

Judgment and of the Statement of Decision is attached as Exhibit "A" and incorporated 

herein by reference. 


FACTUAL FINDINGS 

1. On October 21, 2003, Complainant Patricia F. Harris, authorized the 

Accusation; this action then ensued. On August 2, 2006, Complainant Virginia K. Herold, 

authorized the First Supplemental Accusation. On December 22, 2006, Complainant . 

Herold signed the First Amended and Supplemental Accusation. On October 28, 2003, 


1 Citations to the record are included throughout this decision where the factual findings differ substantively 
from those in the Proposed Decision of the Administrative Law Judge. 
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Respondent TOT, through its then-attorney, signed its Notice of Defense. On November 
17,2003, Respondent Simon, through her then-attorney, signed her Notice of Defense. 

The Parties' Contentions 

2. Complainant contends Respondent Simon's actions merit revocation of her 
pharmacist license for unprofessional conduct, and because Respondent TOT (also 
referred to herein as All Med Drugs) was the licensed pharmacy under which Respondent 
Simon worked, Complainant also seeks discipline against Respondent TOT's pharmacy 
license. Complainant's case focused largely on her allegation that Respondent Simon 
dispensed excessive amounts of controlled substances to various patients; the nature of 
the excess included quantity, in some cases, and dosage in others. In addition, 
Complainant alleged that Respondents excessively furnished controlled substances to a 
patient when a prescription was dispensed prior to the consumption of the previous 
prescription and when Respondents failed to properly fill prescriptions from February 6, 
2002 to March 11, 2003 by dispensing large quantities of multiple controlled substances 
concurrently for a patient. (State's Ex. 1; p. 7:24-26, p. 8:9-11.) Regarding Respondent 
Simon, Complainant more specifically alleged that Respondent Simon knew or had reason 
to know that the prescriptions at issue were not for legitimate medical purposes, acted 
incompetently by failing to consult with the patients or prescribing physicians regarding the 
allegedly excessive prescriptions, and failed to review patient profiles before furnishing the 
medications. Complainant also alleged Respondent Simon changed the dosage and 
strength of a prescription without authorization, acted with gross negligence by dispensing 
early refills, and wrote a check to herself under false pretenses. Complainant further 
alleged that Respondent Simon failed to maintain accurate accountability of certain 
controlled substances, failed to submit prescription information for Schedule II controlled 
substances, as required, and filled prescriptions without authorization. Complainant 
additionally alleged Respondent Simon failed to remove expired drugs from the pharmacy, 
and failed to maintain adequate security of controlled substances, resulting in the 
dispensing of unauthorized prescriptions and refills by a pharmacy technician. 

3. Respondent Simon denied Complainant's allegations, and despite several 
stipulations to the facts alleged, she nonetheless contended Complainant's Accusation 
should be dismissed. Respondent TOT argued that it placed its confidence in Respondent 
Simon, took no active part in the alleged misdeeds, and therefore, Respondent TOT's 
license did not merit discipline. 

Respondents'Licenses 

4. (a) The Board issued pharmacist license number RPH 41523 to 
Respondent Simon, on April 23, 1988; it expired on May 31, 2009, but had been 
previously revoked by order of the Board on August 18, 2008. The Board issued 
pharmacy permit number PHY 45269 to Respondent TOT on July 27,2001; and thereafter 
revoked Respondent TOT's license, stayed the revocation and placed Respondent TOT 
on probation for five years on August 18, 2008. Respondents' two licenses were in full 
force and effect at all times relevant to the charges brought by Complainant in this action. 
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The Board had never disciplined either of Respondents' licenses before the filing of the 
instant Accusation. 

Respondent Simon's Background 

(b) Respondent Simon graduated from the University of Southern 
California in 1982 with a Bachelor's Degree in Biology. She graduated from the University 
of the Pacific's School of Pharmacy in 1987, with a Doctorate of Pharmacy. She has 
consistently worked as a pharmacist since her graduation, and has been the Pharmacist
in-Charge in six or seven differ~nt pharmacies during her career. At times (the evidence 
did not determine exact dates), Respondent Simon has had membership in both state and 
national pharmacist associations. Respondent Simon has been involved in various 
volunteer activities in her community. Respondent Simon takes pride in being a 
pharmacist and loves the field of pharmacy. 

',) 

(c) On a date uncertain, in approximately 2001, Respondent Simon and 
two other individuals purchased the pharmacy, All Med Drugs, in Thousand Oaks,' 
California. The pharmacy was not particularly profitable, and over a period of time, her 
relationship with her two co-owners deteriorated. In approximately December 2003, 
Respondent Simon sold her interest in the pharmacy. 

(d) Respondent Simon was the Pharmacist-in-Charge at All Med Drugs 
from July 27,2001 to June 30, 2003, and then again from July 14,2003 to October 10, 
2003. 

The Original Complaint 

5. On or about November 6,2002, the father of R.S} a patient for whom 
Respondent Simon had filled and dispensed medications at All Med Drugs, filed a 
complaint with the Board, alleging Respondent Simon had dispensed unauthorized refills 
of pain medications to R.S. That complaint led to the Board investigation that eventually 
led to this action against Respondents. The Board's investigation yielded voluminous , 
records regarding prescriptions filled and dispensed at All Med Drugs to various patients ' 
by Respondent Simon and/or by pharmacy staff while Respondent Simon was the 
Pharmacist-in-Charge. ' 

The Sizeable and Copious Prescriptions 

6. The evidence established that, as set forth in Tables A and B, (Factual 
Findings 7 and 8), a Dr. Michael Huff prescribed the dosages and quantities of 
medications for the various patients noted, and that those prescriptions were filled and 
dispensed at All Med Drugs to the patients while Respondent Simon viras the Pharmacist
in-Charge. With the exception of Prescription No. 842666, Table A lists prescriptions that 

2 In lieu of their names, the initials of all patients discussed in this Decision are used to protect their privacy. 
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Complainant alleged were beyond the recommended dose and dosing frequency. 3 Table 
B lists prescriptions that Complainant alleged were filled for large quantities. 

7. TABLE A 

Patient Medication Rx# Rx Date Quantity Dosage Estimated 
Supply 

B.B. OxyContin 
(80 mg.) 

835221 8/28/02 300 
tablets 

2-3 tablets, 3 
times per day 
and as needed4 

Not 
established. 

T.M. OxyContin 
(80 mg.) 

847302 2/13/03 450 
tablets 

5 tablets, 3 times 
per day 

30 days 

OxyContin 
(80 mg.) 

846241 1/31/03 300 
tablets 

5 tablets, 3 times 
per day, as 
needed 

20 days 

OxyContin 
(80 mg.) 

842666 12/12/02 300 
tablets 

4 tablets, 3 times 
per day 

25 days 

J.R. OxyContin 
(80 mg.) 

836087 9/10/02 1,200 
tablets 

12 tablets, 3 to 4 
times per day 

30 days 

0.5. Actiq 
(1,600 meg:) 

824507 4/1/02 360 
lozenges 

2-3 lozenges, 
every 2 hrs., as 
needed for pain 

10 days 

Aetiq 
J1 ,600 meg.) 

833274 7/30/02 360 
lozenges 

1 or 2 lozenges, 
every 2-3 hrs. 

30 days 

Aetiq 
(1,600 meg.) 

833855 8/7/02 360 
lozenges 

1-2 lozenges, 
every 2-3 hrs. 

15 days 

Aetiq 
(1,600 meg.) 

835399 8/29/02 360 
lozenges 

1-2 lozenges, 
every 2-3 hrs., 
as needed for 
pain 

16 days 

Aetiq 
(1,600 meg.) 

837795 10/4/02 360 
lozenges 

1-2 lozenges, 
every 2 hrs., as 
needed for pain. 

15 days 

Aetiq 
(1,600 meg.) 

839696 11/1/02 360 
lozenges 

1-2 lozenges, 
every 2 hrs., as 
needed for pain 

15 days 

OxyContin 
(80 mg.)5 

841656 11/26/02 1,000 
tablets 

7-8 tablets, 3 
times per day 

42 days 

Aetiq 
(1,600 meg.) 

842511 12/10102 360 
lozenges 

1~2 lozenges 
every 3 hrs., as 

22 days 

3 Complainant alleged that Prescription No. 842666 was dispensed prior to the consumption of the previous 
prescription. (State's Ex. 1, p. 7.) 

4 The insert publication from the drug manufacturer of OxyContin reads that OxyContin is not intended to be 
used as an "as needed for pain" analgesic. 

5 Complainant identified this prescription as Actiq (1,600 mcg.) in the Accusation, however, the evidence 
established the prescription was OxyContin, as noted in Table A. 

5 



needed for pain 
Actiq 
(1,600 mcg.) 

844496 1/7/03 360 
lozenges 

2-3 lozenges, 
every 1-2 hrs. 

15 days 

OxyContin 
(80 mg.) 

833275 7/30/02 1,000 
tablets 

7-10 tablets, 4 
times per day 

25 days 

8. TABLE B 


Patient Medication Rx# Rx Date Quantity Estimated 
Supply 

K.B. Roxicodone (30 mg.) 836842 9/20/02 500 12 days 
Roxicodone (30 mg.) 839522 10/29/02 500 16 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.)6 841553 11/26/02 360 30 days 

J.R.7 OxyContin (80 mg.) 835044 8/26/02 800 30 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 836087 9/10/02 1,200 30 days 
OxyContin (80 mgJ 837624 10/2/02 1,100 15 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 839323 10/28/02 1,000 8 days 
Roxicodone (30 mg.) 835045 8/26/02 300 30 days 
Roxicodone (30 mg.) 836089 9/10/02 1,000 12 days 

C.S. OxyContin (80 mg.) 836420 9/13/02 500 30 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 847020 2/10/03 450 30 days 
Roxicodone (30 mg.) 847022 2/10/03 360 30 days 

D.S.I:I Actiq (1,600 mcg.) Includes Table A entries. 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 821977 3/1/02 1,000 30 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 824509 4/1/02 1,000 47 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 832350 7/17/02 1,000 30 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 833857 8/7/02 1,000 25 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 835400 8/29/02 1,000 25 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 837796 10/4/02 1,000 35 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 842572 12/11/02 1,000 31 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 843535 12/23/02 1,000 30 days 
OxyContin (80 mg.) 844495 1/7/03 1,000 30 days 

L.T. Dilaudid (8 mg.) 848840 3/6/03 800 33 days 

9. OxyContin and Roxicodone are the brand names for the generic drug, 
Oxycodone. (OxyContin and Roxicodone, as produced, serve distinct analgesic purposes. 
See Factual Finding 22, post.) Actiq is the brand name forthe generic drug, Fentanyl. 

6 Complainant identified this prescription as Roxicodone (30 mg.) in the Accusation, but the evidence 
established the prescription was OxyContin, as noted in Table B. (State's 10 sub 44, p. 186.) 

7 Complainant alleged in the Accusation that Respondent Simon filled large quantities of Dilaudid (8 
mg.) for J.R. as prescription number 835671 (State's Ex. 1.). At hearing, Complainant explained that the 
prescription number should have read "842671," (RT 7/23/07 185:6-9.) The evidence did not show that 
prescription 842671 fell below the standard of care (RT 7/23/07:183-184). Consequently, that prescription is 
not listed in Table B. 

8 D.S.'s Actiq prescriptions noted in Table A are included in Table B. 
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Dilaudid is the brand name for the generic drug, Hydromorphone. All of these medications 
are considered narcotic analgesics; they are all Schedule II controlled substances. 

Respondents' Pharmacy Practices 

10. Respondent Simon testified regarding her regular pharmacy practices, She 
made sure that all pharmacists, clerks and technicians knew that every new prescription 
required consultation. (RT 7/26/07 112:5-8.) To keep staff informed of that requirement, 
All Med Drug's policy required every new prescription to receive a yellow sticker or rubber 
stamp that said "Patient consultation required." (RT 7/26/07 112:3-23; 113:19-22.) 
According to Simon, after verbal consultations, each patient was required to sign a 
"signature log" as proof of consultation. (RT 7/26/07 142:14-18; 143:10-24.) Each patient 
would receive a computer-generated consultation sheet for their medications. (RT 7/26/07 
112:24-25; 113:1-7.) 

11. When a Schedule II prescription was presented, the clerk would take down 
the address, date of birth, drug allergies and insurance (RT 7/26/07 116:9-11). A typist 
would inputthe information into the computer to create a label (RT 7/26/07 119:6-19). 
Once the label was created, the computer would generate instructions about using that 
particular medication (RT 7/26/07 120:11-14.) The typing clerk would then place the 
information in a plastic container or "boat" for the pharmacist to fill (RT 7/26/07 120:15-21). 

12. Once Respondent Simon received a prescription, she would check her stock 
to see if she had the medication, check the expiration date on the medication and 
compare the patient's name to the name on the prescription. (RT 7/26/07121:4-9,18-25.) 
She would "look at the drug itself," "the quantity" and "the dosage." (RT 7/26/07 125:18
19.) If she had no questions about a prescription,she would fill the prescription if she had 
the drug in stock. (RT 7/26/07 128:4-10.). If ~he had a question about the prescription 
itself, she would contact the doctor, look at the pqtient's drug history in the computer, or 
ask the patient. (RT 7/26/07125:19-25; 126:13-18; 126:4-8.) Reviewing the entire patient 
drug history was something that Respondent Simon testified that she "always" did (RT 
7/26/07 127:4-17; 199:25,200:1-3). Regardless, for the reasons set forth in Factual 
Findings Nos. 20 to 26, it was not established that the foregoing processes or procedures 
were actually followed for the prescriptions at issue in this case. 

13. Respondent Simon testified at hearing that it was a regular practice of the 
pharmacy to input into the computer information about some patients that needed "a little 
bit more work." (RT 7/26/07 145:2-21.) However, Respondent's testimony was extremely 
vague in this area. It was not established that there was any standard regarding what 
kinds of information were placed into the computer or which patients were considered "a 
little bit more work". As a result, Respondent Simon's testimony did not establish what 
kinds of patient information, if any, were regularly maintained by Respondents' pharmacy 
to assist the pharmacists working there with patient issues. 

14. Respondent Simon further claimed that, depending on the situation and the 
patient and medication, she maintained a "clipboard" on which she made notations on 
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particular patients for particular things that were going on and to remind her in the future of 
her concern. (RT 7/26/07 145:22-25; 146:19-25; 147:1.) When pressed about why she 
had not produced the clipboard at hearing, Respondent Simon implied that her "notes" 
from the clipboard were taken by the Sheriff's Office during a raid on Respondents' 
pharmacy on March 11,2003. (RT 7/27/07 46:3-15l 

15. However, other evidence in the record casts doubt on Respondent Simon's 
representation that she maintained a clipboard. The Board's investigator testified that 
during an inspection on March 13, 2003 she questioned Respondent Simon about her 
documentation and patient drug profile practices relating to the dispensing of controlled 
substances. Specifically, she asked Respondent Simon whether she kept a file on each 
patient who was receiving large quantities of controlled substances and if she knew the 
patient's diagnosis for the use of the controlled substances. According to the Board's 
investigator, Respondent Simon's response to her was "we are busy, we don't have time 
to review everyone's profile and how do you expect us to fill prescriptions." (RT 7/20/07 
66:1-14; State's Ex. 10, p. 41.) At hearing, Respondent Simon deniedsaying those exact 
words to the Board's investigator (RT 7/27/07 42:1-10), but stopped short of accusing the 
investigator of lying. Respondent never explained what she "exactly said" to the 
investigator on March 13, 2003. The documentary evidence lends support, however, to 
the Board investigator's representations. While the investigator's reports of the inspection 
recite the alleged admissions by Respondent Simon and other correspondence and 
conversations she had with Respondent Simon regarding the handling of controlled 
substances, the reports do not mention Respondent's maintenance of any "clipboard" or 
"notes" for patient issues relating to controlled substances. (State's Exs. 10,7,7 sub 26.) 
Other inspection and investigative reports and Respondent Simon's statements to the 
Board regarding new documentation practices are similarly silent. (State's Exs. 8, 9, 9 sub 
1.) Regardless, Respondent's testimony regarding the alleged clipboard was neither 
probative nor persuasive. Respondent was vague about when or what type of "situation" 
or "particular thing" would warrant inclusion on her "clipboard." As a result, it was not 
established what types of concerns, if any, would be documented on the alleged 

i clipboard. 

16. Respondent Simon considered herself "very knowledgeable" about 
OxyContin and Roxicodone in 2002 and 2003 because she made it a point to study and 
learn medications (RT 7/26/07129:13-18). She read "package inserts quite a bit," took 
continuing education classes, subscribed to magazines, and questioned Dr. Huff about the 
medications. (RT 7/26/07 129:20-25; 130:1.) Re$pondent Simon maintained that she 
was "anal" about her job duties as a Pharmacist-in-Charge. (RT 7/26/07 29:21-24.) 
However, Respondent Simon admitted that sometimes she would sign, log and submit 
prescriptions to the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) that another pharmacist had 
filled. (RT 7/27/07 71 :4-14.) 

9 Two days after the hearing began in this matter, Respondent's counsel served a subpoena on the 

Custodian of Records for the Ventura County Sheriff's Department (Respondent's Ex. I). However, the 

records sought by the subpoena do not include any "notes" taken from a clipboard. 
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17. Respondent Simon understood that pharmacists have a corresponding 
responsibility to determine that prescriptions written for controlled substances are for 
legitimate medical purposes only. (RT 7/26/07 130:17-24; 7/27/07 61 :11-21.) At various 
times during her career, Respondent Simon had refused to fill and dispense prescriptions 
for patients in. cases where she determined the prescription was invalid or where she 
otherwise concluded that the patient was attempting to obtain medications under false 
pretenses. Respondent understood a prescription was valid "If the prescription is written 
for legitimate use and if everything on the prescription fulfills what is required for a 
prescription to be legal and valid." (RT 7/26/07 152:8-12.) To determine whether the 
prescription was being written for a legitimate use, she would call the doctor, talk and look 
at the patient, and look at the prescription to make sure it had all of the information, 
including doctor's signature, drug name, dosage, quantity, date of the prescription and the 
doctor's information. (RT 7/26/07 152:13-25.) She understood an illegal prescription was 
one that was not issued for "legitimate use or a prescription, again, that didn't have all the 
information, signature that was required on the face of the prescription itself." (RT 7/26/07 
153:1-6.) Regardless, no one refused to fill the prescriptions listed in Tables A and B 
while Respondent Simon was the Pharmacist-in-Charge at All Med Drugs. 

Past Practices and General History Concerning Medications Prescribed by Dr. Huff 

18. On a date uncertain in 2001, Respondent Simon testified that she became 
concerned about patients presenting prescriptions for the types of d rugs discussed in this 
case (Schedule II type drugs similar to those noted in Tables A and B) at All Med Drugs. 
(RT 7/26/07 80:6-12; 82:16-24.) Specifically, she was concerned about the large doses 
of the various medications (RT 7/26/0782:13-25,83:1-25; 88:9-10). She noted that all of 
the prescriptions emanated from one physician, Dr. Michael Huff. On a date uncertain, in . 
approximately September 2001, Respondent Simon telephoned the Medical Board of 
California inquiring about Dr. Huff (RT 7/26/0780:13-17). Respondent Simon specifically 
inquired as to whether Dr. Huff was a licensed physician in good standing with the Board, 
and whether the Board had ever disciplined Dr. Huff in any way; the Medical Board's 
responses were not established by the evidence, but it was established that the Medical 
Board's responses allayed Respondent Simon's concerns. In approximately July 2001, 
Respondent Simon also telephoned the Board of Pharmacy regarding the large doses and 
quantities of Schedule II narcotics being prescribed (RT 7/26/07 193:6). The evidence did 
not establish what the Board told her during the phone call, but after the phone call, 
Respondent Simon believed it was appropriate to use her professional judgment in filling 
and dispensing prescriptions from Dr. Huff. Respondent Simon did not document her 
telephone calls to the Medical and Pharmacy Boards. 

19. Sometime thereafter, possibly in September 2001, Respondent Simon met 
Dr. Huff in person. (RT 7/26/07 190: 10-17.) She told Dr. Huff about her concerns with 
the quantity and frequency of his narcotic prescriptions. They discussed generally Dr. 
Huff's pain medication philosophy and his work with patients with chronic pain and cancer 
(RT 7/26/0789:12-14). After their meeting, Respondent Simon developed respect for Dr. 
Huff's philosophy on pain control and considered his prescriptions a rational way to treat 
patients with chronic pain. Respondent Simon did not document her meeting with Dr. 
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Huff. After that meeting, whenever a prescription from Dr. Huff raised a concern for 
Respondent Simon, she would call Dr. Huff and speak to him or to his staff. Respondent 
Simon testified that when she was able to speak to Dr. Huff himself, she was satisfied 
with his answers and disagreements were resolved when he would take the time to 
explain what he was doing for the patient CRT 7/26/07 94:5-25, 95:1-3). The evidence did 
not establish how often or which subsequent prescriptions concerned Respondent 
Simon. Further, the evidence did not establish that Respondent Simon documented her 
consultations with Dr. Huff and the rationale he provided for prescribing any of the 
specific medications at the doses, frequencies or quantities established in this case. 

Prescriptions Dispensed in this case and Respondent Simon's Testimony 

20. Respondent Simon estimated that approximately 200,000 prescriptions were 
fill"ed during the time she was Pharmacist-in-Charge. (RT 7/26/07161:15-21.) When 
questioned at hearing regarding specific prescriptions at issue in this case, Respondent 
Simon admitted that she could not remember the prescriptions (RT 7/27/06 54:10-24; 
161:8-10;72:7-16; 75:1-12; 89:22-25; 90:16-17). 

21. Respondent Simon repeatedly stated in response to questions about the 
prescriptions listed in Tables A and B, that there was no "high end upper limit" for 
prescribing or dispensing Schedule II drugs as long as the package insert said there was 
no limit. CRT 7/26/07 132:8-23; 201:2-6.). Respondent Simon agreed, nevertheless, that 
"at some point she had a, responsibility to monitor the patient to make sure the patient did 
not completely over utilize." CRT 7/26/07 135:19-25; 136:2-3; 138:2-3.) Respondent 
Simon agreed that hypothetically it would be irresponsible for a patient to take one million 
pills in one day. (RT 7/26/07 135:15-18.) 

22. Respondent Simon testified generally about her pharmacy practice and how 
she exercised her professional judgment in deciding whether to fill prescriptions, 
particularly Schedule II prescriptions (See Factual Findings 10-19). Respondent Simon 
then opined that the filling of various kinds of prescriptions at the times, and for the 
dosages and quantities alleged in this case were "not a problem" and 'of "no concern" to 
her. CRT7/26/07133:17-25; 134:1-2; 136:16-25; 137:17-25; 7/26/07149:10-16; RT 
7/26/07 140:3-19.) However, the record did not establish that Respondent had any 
foundation for her opinions, as she could not determine whether she had handled any of 
the prescriptions in this case: Respondent admitted that because of her practice of 
signing prescriptions that she did not fill, she could not say "who did work on what 
prescription when." CRT 7/27/07 71 :4-19.) Thus, her opinions are not entitled to any 
weight. ' 

23. Respondent Simon also provided conflicting testimony regarding her ability 
to recall patients and their medication. When presented with Prescription No. 839323 for 
J.R. in the amount of 1,OOOOxycontin with directions to take up to 125 tablets per day, 
Respondent Simon first stated that she did not remember the prescription or the patient 
"per se." CRT 7/27/0772:8-16.) However, she later remembered J.R. "clearly" and the fact 
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that she did consult with a doctor before dispensing the prescription. (RT 7/27/0774:1-19.) 
Thus, her opinions are not entitled to any weight. 

24. The record further demonstrated that Respondent Simon provided conflicting 
testimony regarding who was responsible for dispensing prescriptions in this case. When 
questioned about the filling of unauthorized prescriptions for R.S., Respondent Simon 

, testified that she didn't "fill any of these five prescriptions. These are not my writing. My 
initials are not on them." (RT 7/27/0757:19-21.) However, when later questioned 
regarding a prescription that did show her signature (Prescription No. 839323 for patient 
J.R.), Respondent Simon said she did not know whether she filled that prescription (RT 
7/27/0770:18-22; State's Ex. 10 sub 68 p. 10 of 13.). Respondent Simon explained that "I 
signed the prescriptions but that doesn't mean I filled it." (RT 7/27/0771 :1-2.) Respondent 
Simon then testified that another pharmacist would fill some of the prescriptions but 
refused to sign them or was "lazy" and that he would leave them for her to sign, log and 
submit to the DEA. (RT 7/27/0771 :4-14.) As a result, Respondent admitted that she 
could not say "who did work on what prescription when." (RT 7/27/07 71:15-19.) This 
conflicting testimony makes Respondent Simon less credible. 

25. The record also demonstrates that Respondent Simon had a selective 
memory and was evasive when questioned about prior statements that she provided to 
law enforcement. On March 11, 2003, the Ventura County Sheriff's Department raided 
Respondents' pharmacy. (RT 7/26/07, 166-169.) Respondent Simon gave a statement to 
investigators regarding prescriptions that she filled for Dr. Huff's patients. (RT'7/26/07 
195:22-25; State's Ex. 10 sub 125.) Respondent was questioned regarding these 
statements, some of which appeared to conflict with her testimony at hearing. 
Respondent had previously testified that she believed Dr. Huff had a "great" reputation 
and learned he was considered a pain management specialist from other pharmacists in 
the area (RT 7/26/0795:14-19; 96:3-19; 7/27/07 12:22-25, 13:1-2.) She previously, 
maintained that there was no "high end upper limit" for prescribing or dispensing Schedule 
II drugs as long as the package insert said there was no limit. (RT 7/26/07132:8-23; 
201 :2-6.) The investigator's memorandulT) indicated that Respondent Simon made the 
following statements to law enforcement: (1) that she was told it was appropriate to fill the 
large quantity prescriptions for Dr. Huff by the "State Medical Board of Pharmacies" 
(State's Ex. 10 sub 125, p. 3 of 8); (2) that she feels that "she has no responsibility 
whatsoever when it comes to drug diversion" (State's Ex. 10 sub 125, p. 4 of 8); (3) that 
there is a "high-end limit to triplicate prescriptions" (State's Ex. 10 sub 125, p. 4 of 8); (4) 
that she was aware that some of Dr. Huff's prescribing practices are "not accepted by 
other doctors in the area" (State's Ex. 10 sub 125, p. 2 of 8), and, (5) that she will turn 
away a patient if she felt "the prescription was not warranted or if it's not within the legal 
therapeutic range" (State's Ex. 10 sub 125, p. 3 of 8). When questioned about these 
statements at hearing, Respondent Simon said she did not remember making those 
statements. (RT 7/26/07 198:3-8, 200:8-14, 201 :8-22,202:3-6; 7/27/07 11 :5-13.) 

26. Upon later questioning by her attorney, however, Respondent Simon was 
specifically able to recall details about what she told law enforcement on March 11, 2003, 
despite her previous claimed inability to remember what she said. She remembered that 
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she told the investigator that she called the "State Medical Board of Pharmacy" (RT 
7/27/0793:9-25). Respondent Simon recalled telling law enforcement that whenever she 
felt the prescription dosage was very high, she called the doctor to verify the amount (RT 
7/27/07 94: 12-16.) Consistent with the statement prepared by investigators, Respondent 
Simon further recalled that she had told the investigators about looking up an unnamed 
drug with another pharmacist and learning that there was "no high end limit" (RT 7/27/07 
94:25; 95:4-7; State's Ex. 10 sub 125, p. 7 of 8). When questioned whether her March 11, 
2003 statement was honest, Respondent Simon stated "I don't remember what I said. 
was so angry and upset." (RT 7/26/07 196:21-24.) 

Standards of Care for Pharmacy Practice -- The Opinions of Pharmacist Jeb Sydejko 

27. Complainant called Jeb Sydejko, a licensed pharmacist (licensed in 
California and Nevada) to testify as an expert on the standard of pharmacy practice in this 
matter. Complainant engaged Sydejko to review and assess Respondents' actions in this 
matter. Sydejko graduated from the University of Southern California, School of Pharmacy 
in 1985. His employment experience includes the following: Staff Pharmacist at Sav-On 
Drug Store (Sylmar, California), from 1985 to 1987; Chief Pharmacist at Saugus Drugs, 
Inc. (Santa Clarita, California), from 1987 to 1998; and Pharmacist-in-Charge and 
Pharmacy Manager at Sav-On Drug Store (Sylmar, California), from 1998 to 2002. From 
1999 to the present, Sydejko has been the Chief Pharmacist at Sayre Medical Pharmacy, 
in Sylmar, California. Since 1996, he has been a pharmacy consultant on various issues, 
including prescription drug profiles, and an expert witness and reviewer in civil and 
criminal cases, including disciplinary cases and actions for the California State Board of 
Pharmacy ("Board"). (RT 7/23/07 128:20-25; 129:1-19.) Sydejko has provided opinions 
for the Board regarding the standard of care for a reasonably prudent pharmacist in the 
practice of pharmacy and the standard of care for a pharmacist that involved the 
dispensing of large numbers of narcotics, including OxyContin and Hydrocodone 
derivatives (RT 7/23/07121:6-17; 7/23/07 122:5-9;7/24/07 161:19-25; 164:2-20). Sydejko 
wrote two publications (TCB Publishing), a consumer-oriented book regarding how to 
avoid medication errors entitled, "Four Steps to a Safer Prescription," (2001) and "AccuRx" 
(2003). (RT 7/23/07126:18-23.) While Sydejko could not specifically recall all of the 
continuing education courses that he had taken, he testified that he had taken a course in 
2006 relating to opiate medications entitled "Use of Long Acting Opiates for Chronic Pain: 
An Update on Issues, Research, and Treatment Trends." (RT 7/24/07 146; 7/26/07:9:10
21; State's Ex. 16B.) Sydejko generally recalled taking courses developed by 
pharmaceutical companies to help him understand new drugs, new trends or new 
developments (RT 7/24/07147:15-19.) Through his employment, he receives literature 
and materials on pain management from a colleague who is a member of the 
Pharmaceutical Association of California and the North East Valley Pharmaceutical 
Associationof California (RT 7/24/07 158:18-25; 159:1-4). He also holds a Juris 
Doctorate from the Whittier College School of Law (1993). 

28. At hearing, Respondent's counsel objected to the admission of Sydejko's 
opinion and testimony for the following reasons. Sydejko belongs to no national, state, or 
local professional pharmacist associations. He did not establish that he has taken any 
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significant number of continuing education courses or written any publications on subject 
matters related to the issues in this case. Sydejko did not provide evidence that he has 
taught any academic courses in related subject matters at any institution of higher 
learning. Additionally, the Administrative Law Judge in this matter concluded that Sydejko 
only "maintains contact and knows the pharmacists that are within an approximate five 
mile radius of his employment." The Administrative Law Judge then determined that 
Sydejko did not demonstrate he had a knowledge base regarding how pharmacists in the 
greater community practice. As a result, the Administrative Law Judge believed Sydejko's 
opinion was entitled only to "moderate weight" as an expert in the field of pharmacy. 

29. However, there was no evidence in the record that Sydejko, who practices in 
Sylmar, could not testify as to the standard of care in Thousand Oaks, the location of All 
Med Drugs. Both communities are urban and located in neighboring Southern California 
counties (Ventura and Los Angeles). More importantly, there was no evidence in the 
record that a pharmacist's knowledge base regarding the proper dispensing of federally 
regulated Schedule II narcotics would vary from city to city or community to community. 
Sydejko's background showed 22 years of experience as a pharmacist dispensing 
thousands of Schedule II narcotics (RT 7/24/07 157:15-21). Sydejko has also testified as 
an expert witness in cases involving the dispensing of large quantities of narcotics, 
including OxyContin, a drug at issue in this case. Sydejko was also the only expert 
witness presented in this case. Therefore, Sydejko's opinions are conclusive and cannot 
be disregarded as an expert in the field of pharmacy. 

30. The standard of pharmacy practice was established through the testimony of 
Jeb Sydejko. Except as noted herein, Sydejko opined that Respondent Simon departed 
from the standard of care (of a reasonable and prudent pharmacist) by filling and 
dispensing the medications in Tables A and B.lO Whether Respondent Simon actually 
filled and dispensed the medications, or another pharmacy staff person did so, Sydejko 
opined that, as the pharmacist-in-charge, Respondent Simon was responsible for the 
actions of the pharmacy staff and the safety of the medications. According to Sydejko, the 
pharmacist-in-charge is ultimately responsible for the pharmacy's actions, and has the 
obligation to maintain the standard of care for the pharmacy as a whole. Regarding the 
prescriptions in Tables A qnd B, Sydejko considered the quantities, dosages, and the 
frequencies of the fills and refills to be excessive, to such a degree, that Respondent 
Simon should have refused to fill and dispense those prescriptions. Sydejko further opined 
that even though no law or rule specifically requires a pharmacist to document a 
consultation with a patient or physician, the standard of care would compel a reasonable 
and prudent pharmacist to do so; and in this matter, with the extraordinary quantities and 
dosages of narcotic medications at issue, failing to do so demonstrated incompetence. 
Sydejko opined that Respondent Simon departed from the standard of care in all actions 
alleged by Complainant in the Accusation, the First Supplemental Accusation, and the 
First Amended and Supplemental Accusation (except as noted herein). 

10 Two prescriptions (alleged in the Accusation) were not included in Table A because Bydejko opined 
those prescriptions did not fall below the standard of care; the evidence did not prove otherwise. Similarly, 
15 prescriptions were not included in Table B for the same reason. 
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31. Sydejko reviewed the evidentiary documents in this case, including patient 
drug histories (though he did not review the medical charts of any patient in this case, nor 
was he aware of any patient's diagnosis or previous drug therapies). Sydejko produced a 
written report that was admitted into evidence and included his opinions on Respondent 
Simon's actions. (State's Ex. 16.) Sydejko set forth the standards he used to assess 
Respondent Simon. He first clarified that it would be "unconscionable" to conclude that a 
pharmacist had violated laws or departed from the standards of practice, based solely on 
the quantities of controlled drugs dispensed. An assessment of a pharmacist's dispensing 
practice requires consideration of a number of factors, particular to each patient, to 
determine if a large quantity, high dosage and/or too frequently refilled prescription should 
be dispensed. (See Factual Findings 32,34.) 

32. Pharmacists must accept or honor a valid prescription for a narcotic 
analgesic and refuse invalid prescriptions (State's Ex. 16, p. 3). To be valid, a prescription 
must be for a legitimate medical purpose. Factors that a pharmacist should consider in 
determining if a prescription is for a legitimate medical purpose include, but are not limited 
to, the following: the physician's prescribing habits, the physician's reputation, the type, 
quantity, and directions of the prescribed medication, the pharmacist's relationship with the 
patient and with the prescribing physician, the demeanor and appearance of the patient, 
whether there is a history of excessive refills, communications with the patient, and the 
nature of the patient's payment. (State's Ex. 16, p. 3.) 

33. In describing this responsibility further, Sydejko wrote (italics in original, 
below), 

Pharmacists may also at times be presented with a valid prescription, 
but due to surrounding circumstances, the pharmacist may choose not to fill 
the prescription. This situation is most evident where in the judgement of the 
pharmacist, filling the prescription in effect will cause more harm to the 
patient compared to the potential harm caused by not filling the prescription. 
As indicted above, 'the responsibility for the proper prescribing and 
dispensing of controlled sUbstances is upon the prescribing practitioner, but a 
corresponding responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription' 
[citing 21 C.F.R., § 1306.04(a)]. In laymen's terms, if in the judgement of the 
pharmacist, filling and dispensing a valid prescription 'would not be proper under the 
circumstances, then the pharmacist must not fill that prescription. If the pharmacist 
receives further information from the patient or physician indicating the prescription 
was for a legitimate medical need, a pharmacist must still look at the totality of the 
circumstances in deciding whether to fill the prescription in question. (State's Ex. 
16, p. 4.) 

34. Sydejko agreed that the Board's July 2001 and October 2003 editions of the 
Board's newsletter, "The Script" provided some guidance to pharmacists regarding what 
they should consider in exercising professional judgment. (RT 7/25/07 6:17-25; 7:1-6.) 
Aside from contacting the prescriber, pharmacists should also ask themselves questions 
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about the drug history of the patient, the prescribing patterns of the physician, the type of 
drugs and their frequency and volume, the therapeutic appropriateness of the 
prescription, and how the length and quantity of the prescribed drug therapy compares to 
recognized and accepted prescribing practices. (RT 7/25/07 15, 33, 48, 49; State's Ex. 
·10 sub 3; Respondent's Ex. "E".) (RT 7/25/07 26:19-25; 27:1-13 regarding Script in July 
2001; State's Ex. 10 sub 3.) . 

35. While Sydejko agreed the process by which a pharmacist determines 
whether a prescription is for a legitimate medical purpose is left to the discretion of the 
individual pharmacist,his report and testimony make it clear that there are certain 
established standards of practice that measure whether that discretion or judgment to 
dispense narcotics was exercised appropriately. (RT 7/25/07 15:7-12; 49:14-22; State's 
EX,16, p. 13.) Pharmacists must take an active role in monitoring and assessing the 
patient for effective pain therapy outcomes (State's Ex. 16, p. 13). Computers and 
software programs enable th.e pharmacist to monitor the patientfor possible drug/drug 
interactions, drug/diet or drugldisease interactions as well as problems related to 
noncompliance or excessive use of narcotics. (RT 7/23/07 145:3-9; Id. at p. 14.) 

36. Pharmacists taking on a specialty, such as pain management, should 
become educated in the specialized field (State's Ex. 16, p. 13, 15). Pharmacists must 
comply with state-mandated requirements for reporting the filling of Schedule II narcotics 
through the "Controlled Substances Utilization Review and Evaluation System." (ld. at p. 
15.) . Due to concerns regarding drug diversion, pharmacy practice is more strictly 
scrutinized when dispensing controlled substances. (RT 7/23/07145:10-17.) Pharmacists 
deny refills for controlled substances if such refill is prior to the expected date based upon 
the previous prescription and daily usage indicated by the physician (aka "early fills"). (ld. 
at p. 15.)11 However, at times, pharmacists may dispense medications when a situation 
presents itself that it is in the best interests of the patient to do so. (Id. at p. 15.) This 
means that the pharmacist should obtain, retain and update appropriate information 
documenting the course of and need for ongoing opiate therapy or the rationale for early 
fills of prescriptions (ld. at p. 8,11,15). When dispensing large quantities, pharmacists 
should carefully discuss dosage regiments and addiction propensities with patients and 
physicians (ld. at p. 13). Large quantities dispensed with an increase in drug quantities 
and changes in dosing schedules is indicative of opiate tolerance, so pharmacists should 
maintain consultation records indicating conversations with the patient or physician as to 
why there is an increase and where the patient is going with respect to pain control. (ld. at 
p.8.) 

37. The pharmacist must be familiar with a patient's history of prescriptions, at 
least those that were filled at that pharmacy and not being presented for the first time. 
(RT 7/23/07185: 23-25,186:1-4,201:12-15; 207:4-7.) Upon filling a prescription, 
pharmacists must conduct a Drug Utilization Review (OUR) for every prescription. The 

11 Sydejko clarified that whenever he used the word "refill" with reference to controlled substances like 
OxyContin, he meant "fill," since a prescription for these types of drugs can only be filled once. (RT 7/24/07 
38:3-25.) 
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DUR is conducted to determine compliance, abuse, drug/drug interactions, drug/disease 
state interactions, and the appropriateness of drug therapy. (State's Ex. 16, p. 15; RT 
7/24/07 110:5-20.) Pharmacists must consult with the patient and document such 
consultation on any new prescription. (State's Ex. 16, p. 16.) 

In sum, the pharmacist does not merely function as a mere instrument of the physician, 
"rubber stamping" and automatically filling prescriptions. The pharmacist has an 
independent duty to protect the patient by working in concert with the prescribing 
physician to safeguard against inappropriate or excessive opiate prescribing. 

38. Except as noted herein, Sydejko opined that Respondent Simon departed 
from the standard of care (of a reasonable and prudent pharmacist) by filling and 
dispensing the medications in Tables A and B.12 Whether Respondent Simon actually 
filled and dispensed the medications, or another pharmacy staff person did so, Sydejko 
opined that, as the pharmacist-in-charge, Respondent Simon was responsible for the 
actions of the pharmacy staff and the safety of the medications. According to Sydejko, the 
pharmacist-in-charge is ultimately responsible for the pharmacy's actions, and has the 
obligation to maintain the standard of care for the pharmacy as a whole.· Those 
obligations cannot be delegated to another pharmacist or staff person (7/24/07 120:8-24). 
Regarding the prescriptions in Tables A and B, Sydejko considered the quantities, 
dosages, and the frequencies of the fills and refills to be excessive, to such a degree, that 
Respondent Simon should have refused to fill and dispense those prescriptions. Sydejko 
further opined that even though no law or rule specifically requires a pharmacist to 
document a consultation with a patient or physician, the stal')dard of care would compel a 
reasonable and prudent pharmacist to do so; and in this matter, with the extraordinary 
quantities and dosages of narcotic medications at issue, failing to do so demonstrated 
incompetence. Sydejko opined that Respondent Simon departed from the standard of 
care in all actions alleged by Complainant in the Accusation, the First Supplemental 
Accusation, and the First Amended and Supplemental Accusation (except as noted 
herein). 

39. Sydejko felt that when considering the factors set forth in Factual Findings 
31 through 37, Respondent Simon departed from the standard of care by filling and 
dispensing those prescriptions in Tables A and B. Sydejko opined that Respondent Simon 
has a corresponding responsibility, that is, a responsibility as a pharmacist, independent 
of the physician, but working in concert with the healthcare professionals, to care for the 
patient's health. According to Sydejko, Respondent Simon's corresponding responsibility 
allows, indeed compels Respondent Simon, to refuse to fill and dispense prescriptions if 
she determines that the prescription is not for a legitimate medical purpose, or if she is 
sufficiently uncertain as to some aspect of the medication's utility for the patient. 
However, in this case, Respondent Simon did not properly execute her corresponding 
responsibility. This case deals with large quantities of drugs and drugs that were filled 

12 Two prescriptions (alleged in the Accusation) were not included in Table A because Sydejko opined 
those prescriptions did not fall below the standard of care; the evidence did not prove otherwise. Similarly, 
15 prescriptions were not included in Table B for the same reason. 
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frequently that have the potential for high tolerance and drug diversion. As a result and for 
the reasons set forth in Factual Findings 40 through 63, Sydejko opined that the 
prescriptions in Tables A and B were not valid and Respondent Simon should not have 
dispensed them. (RT 7/24/0796-97:1-19.) Sydejko's specific opinion regarding 
Respondents' handling of each patient's prescription is set forth more fully below. 

Medications dispensed in Tables A and B - Expert Opinion and Defenses 

Patient B.B. 

40. It was established that Respondents dispensed Prescription No. 835221 in 
quantities and dosages that were beyond the recommended dose and dosing frequency 
for OxyContin. A review of the patient's drug profile would have revealed that the prior 
prescription for 180 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin dosed at 2-3 times per day"as needed" 
was filled on August 6, 2002. (State's Ex. 10 sub 44, p. 34.) Respondents dispensed 
B.B.'s prescription (835221) on August 28,2002 for 300 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin, 
which reflected an increase in quantity from the prior prescription and an early frequency . 
for the filling of this drug. Proper documentation must be noted for increases in drug 
quantities, other than what appears on the face of the prescription. This includes 
documentation of communication between the pharmacist and the physician and the ,-. 
pharmacist and the patient to understand why this medication was being prescribed early 
and why this increase was the appropriate therapy. Additionally, the insert publication 
from the drug manufacturer of OxyContin reads that OxyContin is not intended to be used 
as an "as needed for pain" analgesic; this is due to the fact that this drug is highly 
addictive. Nevertheless, this prescription contained directions that permitted the patient to 
dose "as needed." (State's Ex. 10 sub 44, p. 35; State's Ex. 16; RT 7/23/07139:4-16,141
142,143:7-13; 7/24/0711:8-13.) 

41. There is no pharmacy documentation that either Respondent Simon or 
another pharmacist at All Med Drugs noted the increase in quantity that occurred with 
Patient B.B., or that Respondent Simon or any other pharmacist at All Med Drugs 
contacted Dr. Huff regarding his rationale for increasing the quantity for this prescription 
(see Factual Findings 13-15). Respondent Simon could not determine who had handled 
the various prescriptions in this case and had no specific recall of the prescriptions at 
issue in this case (see Factual Findings 20-24). Nevertheless, Respondent Simon opined 
that filling B.B.'s prescription was not below the standard of care despite the 
manufacturer's recommendation because "there is no upper limit" to the dispensing of 
Schedule II narcotics; there is no "beyond the recommended dose." (RT 7/26/07 147
149.) Respondent believed that when a package insert said "no upper limit", that "it was 
meant for pharmacists or the doctor as welL" (RT 7/26/07 132:14-23.). Respondent 
Simon provided no independent expert opinion to support her belief that disregarding the 
manufacturer's recommendations for a highly addictive drug was an accepted standard of 
pharmacy practice. Respondent Simon's testimony was unpersuasive. 
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Patient K.B. 

42. It was established that Respondents dispensed large quantities of 
Roxicodone and OxyContin when dispensing Prescription Nos. 839522 and 841553 for 
Patient K.B.13 Sydejko explained that in chronic pain cases, it was appropriate (and 
common) to have prescriptions with large quantities of Roxicodone and OxyContin 
(though Sydejko made clear, generally not as large as those in Tables A and B). 
OxyContin works as a sustained release analgesic, providing long lasting pain relief that 
raises a patient's pain threshold, while Roxicodone is a quick release pain analgesic for 
the immediate relief of pain spikes. However, Sydejko opined that an increase in one 
medication should generally be seen with a decrease in the other. Further, large fills of 
Roxicodone are acceptable provided that the OxyContin prescriptions are being filled 
timely; that, according to Sydejko, did not happen here. (RT 7/23/07 150-157.) 

43. A review of the patient's drug profile would have revealed that patient K.B. 
had previously received early refills of OxyContin, i.e., prior to the expected date based 
upon the previous prescription and daily usage indicated by the physidan. Three 
hundred tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin dosed at one to two tablets per day, given as a 30
day supply, was filled on September 5, 2002. (RT 7/23/07 152: 18-23; State's Ex. 10 sub 
44, p. 25.) On September 25,2002, K.B. was dispensed another 300 tablets of 
OxyContin, a 25-day supply, ten days early. (State's Exs. 10 sub 44 p. 26,10 sub 48.) 
On October 29, 2002, patient K.B. was dispensed 500 tablets of Roxicodone14. 
(Prescription No. 839522) and 800 tablets of OxyContin, a 30-day supply (State's Exs. 
10 sub 44, 10 sub 48.) On November 26, 2002, less than a month after the 800 tablets 
of OxyContin were filled, the patient received another 360 tablets of OxyContin . 
(Prescription No. 841553). (State's Exs. 10 sub 44, 10 sub 48.) The directions for this 
prescription were to take the tablets three or four times a day. OxyContin is dosed, at 
the most, three times per day. (State's Ex. 16, p. 7; RT 7/23/07156:10-25.) Patient 
K.B.'s drug history revealed that he had been prescribed anti-inflammatory medications 
in the past. As a result, a discussion with the physician to determine whether to use 
anti-inflammatory drugs might have been explored to see if it could help control the 
patient's pain (RT 7/23/07 158-159). Once again, proper documentation for the early fills 
and drastic increases in quantity and usage is required to demonstrate that the 
pharmacist met the standard of care in dispensing these medications. (State's Ex. 16, p. 
7.) 

44. There is no pharmacy documentation that either Respondent Simon or 
anyone at All Med Drugs noted the history of early fills for OxyContin when filling 
prescriptions for Roxicodone or consulted with Dr. Huff regarding his rationale for 
prescribing early fills. There is no pharmacy documentation that Respondent Simon or 

13 It was not established that Respondent's dispensing of Prescription No. 836842 was below the standard 
of care because it was dispensed on September 20, 2002, before the pattern of "early fills" of large 
quantities of OxyContin had been established. . 

14 The quantity of the prior prescription (836842) for 30 mg. Roxicodone was 500 tablets. 
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any other pharmacist at All Med Drugs noted the drastic increase in quantity of OxyContin 
that occurred with Patient K.B. or that Respondent Simon consulted with Dr. Huff 
regarding his directions to dose four times per day. Similarly, there was no pharmacy 
documentation that Respondent Simon or any other pharmacist at All Med Drugs had 
contacted Dr. Huff to explore the use of anti-inflammatory drugs to help control the 
patient's pain. 

45. Respondent Simon opined that filling K.B.'s prescriptions for large quantities 
of Roxicodone was not below the standard of care. In September and October 2002, 
Respondent Simon did not feel that she was "somehow prevented in filling prescriptions 
for large quantities of Roxicodone." (RT 7/26/07 149:10-16.) She did not understand that 
there was any law, rule, or regulation of any state agency that prevented .her from filling 
large quantities of Roxicodone. (RT 7/26/07 149:17-20.) In considering whether to fill 
large quantities of Roxicodone, she would look at the patient's history, talk to the 
pharmacist at the store and talk to the doctor~ (RT 7/26/07 149:21-25; 150:1-4.) With 
respect to K.B., Respondent Simon did not feel that she was filling a prescription that was 
not written in the normal course of the medical practice of the doctor. (RT 7/26/07 150: 13
17.) However, Respondent Simon could not determine who had handled the various 
prescriptions in this case and had no specific recall of the prescriptions at issue in this 
case. Respondent Simon provided no independent expert opinion to support her opinions, 
particularly her opinion that only laws, rules or regulations of a state agency could set the 
standard of practice for pharmacists. Respondent Simon's testimony was unpersuasive. 

Patient T.M. 

46. It was established that Respondents dispensed Prescription Nos. 846241 
and 847302 at amounts and frequenCies that were beyond the recommended dose and 
dosing frequency. In addition, Respondents dispensed Prescription No. 842666 prior to 
the expected consumption of the prior prescription as stated by the physician for the same 
drug.15 A prior prescription for 100 tablets of OxyContin (80 mg.), a 33-day supply dosed 
at 1 tablet, 3 times per day, was filled on December 4,2002. (RT 7/23/07 164; State's Exs. 
10 sub 44, 10 sub 63.) Only eight days later, Prescription' No. 842666 was filled for 300 
tablets of OxyContin, a 25-day supply dosed at 4 tablets, 3 times per day. (RT 7/23/07 
172:15-21; State's Exs. 10 sub 44,10 sub 63.) 

47. Prescription No. 846241 for 300 tablets of 80 mg.OxyContin was dosed at 5 
tablets, 3 times per day "as needed." (State's Ex. 10 sub 44.) The manufacturers insert 
states that OxyContin is not intended to be dosed "as needed." Further, "as needed" 
instructions are not used because it provides the patient with the opportunity to take 
more. (RT 7/23/07165:18-25,171:19-21.) 

48. A review of the patient's drug history would have revealed that Prescription 
No. 847302 for 450 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin, dosed at 5 tablets, 3 times per day, was 

15 Sydejko opined that Prescription No. 844299 did not fall below the standard of care because it was filled in 
a timely manner. (RT 7/23/07172:10-12.) 
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filled on February 15, 2003,16 seven days too early from the prior prescription. (State's 
Ex. 10 sub 44.) Additionally, on February 13, 2003, Respondents dispensed to Patient 
T.M. 300 tablets (21-day supply) of another long-acting, time-released opiate drug, MS 
Contin (100 mg. tablets, dosed twice per day). That would mean that Patient TM. 
received more than 10 tablets per day of MS Contin at the same time as OxyContin. 
Sydejko opined that would be a "heavy drug dose" to be given at the same time as 
Prescription No. 847302, dosed at 5 tablets, 3 times per day. (RT 7/23/07 165:21-25, 
168:16-25, 169:12-16.) Additionally, the increase in quantity and dosing schedule is 
indicative of opiate tolerance. (State's Ex. 16, p. 7.) Consultation records should 
indicate either conversations with the patient or the physician as to why the increases 
occurred and where the patient is going with respect to pain control. (Id. at p. 7-8.) 

49. There is no pharmacy documentation that Respondent Simon or any other 
pharmacist maintained consultation records indicating either conversations with Patient 
TM. or the physician as to why the increases occurred and 'where the patient was going 
with respect to pain control. With respect to TM., Respondent Simon did not believe 
there was any recommended dose or dosing frequency set forth by any rule, regulation, 
or law. (RT 7/26/07 151 :5-1 0.) Respondent Simon felt there was no problem filling a 
prescription for whatever dose and dosing frequency that was, in her opinion, appropriate 
for the patient as long as it was a "valid" prescription. (RT 7/26/07 151: 11-15.) As a 
result, Respondent Simon opined that there was not any "problem" filling TM.'s 
prescription (RT 7/26/07 151 :13-15.) In making that determination, Respondent Simon 
took into consideration the issues discussed above in Factual Findings No. 41 and 45, 
that there was no "upper limit" for prescribing Schedule II narcotics and no rule or 
regulation about dispensing large quantities of drugs. However, for the same reasons 
explained in Factual Findings Nos. 40 and 44, there is no basis for Respondent Simon's 
opinions regarding T.M.'s prescript!ons. As a result, Respondent Simon's testimony is not 
persuasive. 

Patient J.R. 

50. It was established that Respondents dispensed Prescription Nos. 836087, 

835044,837624,839323, 835045, and 836089 to J.R. in large quantities at doses and 

frequencies that were not recommended. 17 Using the patient's drug history at All Med 

Drug and prior prescriptions as a baseline, a prior prescription for 300 tablets of 40 mg. 

OxyContin was dispensed to J.R. on August 16, 2002, a 30-day supply. (RT 7/23/07 

179:1-4; State's Exs. 10 sub 44, 10 sub 67.) Only ten days later, Patient J.R. was 


16 The prescription itself reflects that it was filled on February 13, 2003 and not February 15, 2003 as the 
patient profile indicates (State's Exs. 10 sub 44,10 sub 63; RT 7/23/07166-167.) 

17 Sydejko opined that Prescription Nos. 842671 ahd 837029 did not fall below the standard of care because 
they were filled timely. (RT 7/23/07183-184,188:18-25,189:5-8.) Prescription No. 834513, was filled for 
the first time at the pharmacy, and was therefore also not below the standard of care (RT 7/23/07 185:23-25, 
186:1-4.) Prescription No. 842670 was timely. However considering the quantity and the two and one-half 
month break from the prior prescription, Sydejko said he needed more information to render an opinion, but 
would not say that it fell below the standard of care. (RT 7/23/07189:12-17.) 
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dispensed 800 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin per Prescription No. 835044, which was 
"early" and twice the dose of the previous prescription. (RT 7/23/07 179: 1-15.) At the 
same time, Patient J.R. was dispensed 300 tablets of 30 mg. Roxicodone (a 30-day 
supply) under prescription No. 835045, which was dispensed 10 days "early" from the 
previous prescription and represented an increase of 100 tablets from the prior 
prescription. (RT 7/23/07 187:2-18.) On September 10, 2002, only 16 days from the prior 
OxyContin prescription, J.R. presented prescription No. 836087 for 1,200 tablets of 80 
mg. OxyContin dosed at 12 tablets, 3 to 4 times per day. OxyContin is not intended to be 

. dosed four times per day. (RT 7/23/07 173:12-14, 174:9-22, 175:1-21, 178:7-9, 180:14
18.) At the same time, Patient J.R. was dispensed 1 ,000tablets of 30 mg. Roxicodone, 
which was over three times higher in quantity than the previous prescription and fifteen 
days early from the expected fill date from the prior prescription. Considering the quantity 
of OxyContin being prescribed at the same time, Sydejko considered the quantities 
"inconceivably high." (RT 7/23/07187:19-25,188:3-13.) 

51. On October 2, 2002, Patient J.R. was dispensed 1,100 tablets of 80 mg. 
OxyContin and dosed at up to 30 tablets, three times per day (a 15-day supply). (State's 
Exs. 10 sub 44, 10 sub 67.) This is a huge increase in the number of tablets, doubling 
the amount of tablets taken per day within less than a month. (RT 7/23/07 180:22-25, 
181 :1-11.) Increases in the dosing of OxyContin continued with the dispensing of 
prescription No. 839323 on October 28,2002, which permitted Patient J.R. to take up to 
125 tablets daily of 80 mg. OxyContin. (State's Ex. 10 sub 44.) According to Sydejko, 
the role of the pharmacist is to involve themselves in drug therapy for the patient and to 
communicate their concerns to the patient and the physician. Dispensing without proper 
documentation of that communication is "inexcusable." (RT 7/23/07182:1-18; State's Ex. 
16, p. 8.) Further, the patient's overall drug history reflects large quantities of controlled 
substances dispensed, with an increase in the drug quantities and changes in the dosing 
schedules; this is indicative of opiate tolerance. Consultation records should indicate 
either conversations with the patient or physician as to why there are increases and 
where the patient is going with respect to pain control. (State's Ex. 16, p.8.) 

52. There is no pharmacy documentation showing that Respondent Simon or 
any other pharmacist at All Med Drugs communicated their concerns regarding the large 
quantities and increases in the dosages and frequencies of Patient J.R.'s prescriptions to 
Dr. Huff. With respect to J.R., Respondent Simon opined that the dispensing of Patient 
J.R.'s prescriptions did not fall below the standard of care for the same reasons provided 
in Factual Finding No. 48. (RT 7/26/07 151: 16-21.) However, for the same reasons 
explained in Factual Findings Nos. 41 and 45, there is no basis for Respondent Simon's 
opinions. As a result, Respondent Simon's testimony regarding Patient J.R.'s 
prescriptions is not persuasive. 
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Patient C.S. 

53. It was established that Respondents dispensed prescriptions 836420, 
847020, and 847022 in large quantities to C.S .. 18 A review of the patient's drug profile 
would have revealed that Patient C.S. had a prior prescription filled for 100 tablets of 40 
mg. OxyContin on August 23, 2002. The next prescription for OxyContin filled 
September 13, 2002, Prescription No. 836420, was filled for 500 tablets of 80 mg. 
OxyContin. This represents a drastic increase from the prior prescription. Considering 
the increases in amount and dosage, Sydejko equated it to a "900 tablet increase within 
a month." (RT 7/23/07 194:7-22.) 

54. According to Sydejko, it is important to look at the other medications 
surrounding the filling of a prescription to deterl1]jne if the pharmacist fell below the 
standard of care. Respondents filled a prior prescription on January 17, 2003 for 500 . 
tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin, a 28-day supply. (State's Exs 10 sub 44, 10 sub 74.) Less 
than 28 days later, Respondents dispensed Prescription No. 847020 on February 10, 
2003 for 450 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin, a 30-day supply. At this time, other narcotic 
drugs were added. On the very same day that Respondents filled 847020, Respondents 
dispensed 360 tablets of Roxicodone under Prescription No. 847022, a 30-day supply. 
Also on February 10, 2003, Respondents dispensed 360 tablets of 10-325 mg: 
Hydrocodone BIT APAP, a 30 day-supply that equates to up to 12 tablets per day. That 
prescription is a "dual" drug containing both the narcotic drug, Hydrocodone, and Tylenol. 
Pharmacists must be careful in filling prescriptions containing Tylenol at dosages that 
exceed 4 grams per day because of possible liver damage. Twelve tablets per day 
exceed the 4 grams per day minimum. As a result, Respondents' actions in filling these 
prescriptions at the same time in the quantities and dosages indicated, fell below the 
standard of care. (RT7/23/07199:2-25, 200:1-25, 201:1-2, 203:15-23, 205:13-16.) 

55. With respect to C.S., Respondent Simon opined thatthe dispensing of 
Patient C.S.'s prescriptions did not fall below the standard of care for the same reasons 
provided in Factual Finding No. 52. (RT 7/26/07151:16-21.) However, for the same 
reasons explained in Factual Findings Nos. 41 and 45, there is no basis for Respondent 
Simon's opinions. As a result, Respondent Simon's testimony regarding Patient C.S.'s 
prescriptions is not persuasive. 

Patient D.S. 

56. Respondents' filling of Prescription Nos. 824507, 833274, 833855, 835399, 
837795,839696,842511,844496 for PatientD.S. for large quantities of Actiq (360 
lozenges, 1,600 mcg.) at dosing schedules that exceeded the manufacturers' 

18 Sydejko opined that the filling of prescription Nos. 838347, 840637, 838346,840636,843317,843987, . 
and 845287 did not fall below the standard of care because they were timely (RT 7/23/07 195, 196:3-16, 
202:22-25,203:1-11.) He also opined that a prescription Nos. 843319, 845289, and 836419 were timely 
and the dosage increases were not drastically high. (RT 7/23/07 197:4-20, 198: 10-18, 202:2-7. Prescription 
No. 834787 for Roxicodone was filled for the first time at this pharmacy. As a result, Sydejko said it did not 
fall below the standard of care for dispensing. (RT 7/23/07201 :12-15.) 
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recommendation of four per day, fell below the standard of care (see Factual Findings 7 
and 8 for specific dosing schedules). (RT 7/23/07210, 211 :14-25, 213:1-25, 213:16-20, 
214-216.) The standard of care with respect to dispensing Actiq requires that once the 
medication repeats, if consumption increases above four units per day, then the patient 
should be re-evaluated to determine if use of a long-acting opiate drug, such as 
OxyContin, is possible.19 (RT 7/23/07 210:20-25,211:1; RT 7/26/07 12:1-14, 13:1-6.) 
Sydejko also noted that prescription Nos. 833855 and 837795 were filled too early. 
Respondents filled Prescription No. 833855 eight days after the previous prescription, 
which was a 30-day supply. (RT 7/23/07 211 :22-24.) Prescription No. 837795 was filled 
on October 4,2002 six days later from the previous prescription. (RT 7/23/07213:16-20.) 

57. The standard of care requires that if the face of the prescription is for a huge· 
amount and a review of a patient's drug profile reveals drug activity for heavy-duty drugs 
that are abusive in nature, like Actiq and OxyContin, then a pharmacist cannot just 
continue to dispense. (RT 7/24/0723:14-22.) Patient D.S. was dispensed 1,000 tablets 
of 80 mg. OxyContin on March 1, 2002 for Prescription No. 821977. This was a very large 
quantity, which was dispensed the day after a large quantity of Actiq (384 lozenges) was 
dispensed on February 28,2002. Similarly, Prescription No. 824509 for 1,000 tablets of 
80 mg. OxyContin was dispensed on April 1 ,2002 at the same time as a large quantity of 
Actiq (360 lozenges). (RT 7/24/07 21 :15-16,23:7-22.) 

58. Respondents' continued to dispense OxyContin, even wh'en Patient D.S.'s 
drug history revealed that multiple narcotic drugs were being dispensed frequently and at 
or around the same time as OxyContin. On April 1 ,2002, Respondents dispensed 
concurrently to D.S. the drugs OxyContin, Actiq, Clonazepam and Methadone. According 
to Sydejko, the prescription for Methadone, a drug used for pain and to detox from heroin, 
was written for a "huge" amount (500 tablets) considering the other narcotic drugs being 
dispensed and considering that Methadone was being introduced to Patient D.S. without 
"tapering up." (RT 7/24/07 51 :52.) Under prescription No. 832350, Respondents 
dispensed 1,000 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin to D.S. on July 17, 2002 while 120 tablets of 
Clonazepam, a drug similar to Valium, had already been dispensed. Patient D.S.'s drug 
history showed that while the OxyContin prescriptions in this case were being filled, either 
120 or 200 tablets of Clonazepam were filled sixteen times between May 3, 2002 and 
January 13, 2003. Only thirteen days after the prior prescription for OxyContin, on July 
30, 2002, Respondents dispensed concurrently OxyContin (Prescription No. 833275 for 
1,000 tablets), Actiq (360 lozenges), and Clonazepam (an early refill of 200 tablets). (RT 
7/24/0724-26,49:16-25,50-52,53:3-9.) 

59(a). Despite the foregoing medications and Patient D.S.'s drug history, 
Respondents continued to dispense large quantities of OxyContin frequently and at high 
doses to Patient D.S. between August 7, 2002 and January 7, 2003. Just ten days after 
her prior OxyContin prescription, Patient D.S. was dispensed 1,000 tablets of 80 mg. 

19 Filling Prescription No. 821016 for 360 lozenges of Actiq did not fall below the standard of care because it 
was the first prescription of this type presented to the pharmacy. There was no "repeat" or pattern of 
prescribing as of that date. (RT 7/23/07 4-7.) 

23 


http:possible.19


OxyContin under Prescription 833857, with directions to take 7-10 tablets, 4 times daily 
(25-day supply). This means that Patient D.S. could take up to forty tablets per day. 
Twenty-two days later, on August 29, 2002, Patient D.S. was dispensed another 1,000 
tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin (Prescription No. 835400), with the same directions. On 
December 23,2002, Respondents continued to dispense large quantities of OxyContin 
under Prescription No. 843535 (1,000 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin, a 30-day supply), 
which was dispensed seventeen to eighteen days too early. Fifteen days later, 
Respondents dispensed Prescription No. 844495 for 1,000 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin 
with directions to take 7-8 tablets, four times per day. The standard of practice is not to 
dose more than three times per day. (State's Ex. 10 sub 44; RT 7/24/07 28-29,31:13-20, 
42:1-24,43:23-25,44:17-25,48:12-23.) 

59(b). Respondents also dispensed to D.S. other narcotic drugs frequently or for 
. large quantities at or near the same time as the OxyContin prescriptions were filled from 
October 4, 2002 to December 11, 2002. On October 4, 2002, Respondents dispensed 
1,000 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin to Patient D.S. under prescription No. 837796 while 
also dispensing Actiq (an early fill of 260 lozenges) under Prescription No. 837795. 
Respondents then filled Prescription No. 841656 on November 26, 2002 for 1,000 tablets 
of OxyContin (42-day supply) around the same time that Patient D.S. had been dispensed 
Clonazepam. On December 11,2002, Respondents filled Prescription No. 842572 for 
1,000 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin (31-day supply), which was filled fifteen days too early. 
On the same day or around the same time, Respondent dispensed to Patient D.S. 120 
tablets of Clonazepam (an early fill of 120 tablets) and large quantities of Actiq (360 
lozenges -- Prescription No. 842511). (State's Ex. 10 sub 44; RT 7/24/07 33:3-9,34:3-6, 
35:3-9,35:20-24,36:6-23,42:1-24,43:23-25, 44:17-25, 48:12-23.) 

60. With respect to D.S., Respondent Simon opined that the dispensing of 
Patient D.S.'s prescriptions did not fall below the standard of care for the same reasons 
provided in Factual Finding No. 48. (RT 7/26/07151:16-21.) Respondent Simon also 
specifically disagreed with Sydejko's opinion that dosage of Actiq is limited to four per day 
and if more was given, then the patient should be re-evaluated. Respondent stated that 
she understood that the insert "didn't state a limit." (RT 7/26/07 133:17-25; 134:1-2.) 
Hypothetically, if a prescription with respect to D.S., had been presented six months after 
she began working at All Med Drugs, Respondent Simon testified that she would have had 
no problem with a 1,000 tablet 80 mg. OxyContin prescription for D.S. if it had been 
presented six months after she began working there, "because it had been filled by prior 
pharmacists," "the patient was already there" and had "an established drug history," (RT 
7/26/07 136:16-23.) She contacted the doctor and talked to him and D.S. on numerous 
occasions (RT 7/26/07 136:23-25.) 

61. There is no pharmacy documentation that either Respondent Simon or 
another pharmacist at All Med Drugs noted the large quantities, dosages or frequencies 
that occurred with Patient D.S., or that Respondent Simon or any other pharmacist at All 
Med Drugs contacted Dr. Huff regarding his rationale for the quantity, dosage or 
frequencies for these prescriptions (see Factual Findings 13-15). Respondent Simon 
could not determine who had handled the various prescriptions in this case and had no 
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specific recall of the prescriptions at issue in this case (see Factual Findings 20-24). 
Nevertheless, Respondent Simon opined that filling D.S.'s prescriptions were not below 
the standard of care. Respondent Simon provided no independent expert opinion to 
support her beliefs that accepted standards of pharmacy practice included disregarding 
the manufacturer's recommendations, or filling prescriptions for large quantities at high 
dosages because previous prescriptions had been filled by other pharmacists. 
Respondent Simon's testimony was unpersuasive. 

Patient L.T. 

62. It was established that Respondents filled Prescription No. 848840 for large 
quantities of Hydromorphone (Dilaudid) for Patient L.T. In determining whether 
dispensing this prescription fell below the standard of care, it is appropriate to examine the 
patient's drug history, including other medications that were dispensed around the same 
time, and the pattern of prescribing to determine if the quantity was large. If a review of 
the patient's drug profile had been done it would have revealed that Respondents had 
dispensed prior prescriptions to Patient L.T. authorized by another prescriber for, at the 
most, 405 tablets of 20 mg. OxyContin in December 2002 and January 2003. However, 
one month later, when L.T. began presenting prescriptions from Dr. Huff on February 7, 
2003, that amount "bounced up" the strength from 20 mg. to 80 mg. OxyContin. 
Respondents also dispensed MS Contin and 100 tablets of 8 mg. Dilaudid. On March 6, 
2003, Respondents dispensed to Patient L.T. 800 tablets of 8 mg. Dilaudid under 
Prescription No. 848840 and 200 tablets of 80 mg. OxyContin. Increases in drug 
quantities require documentation of the prescriber's rationale regarding the patient's pain 
control. Considering the pattern of increasing amounts of OxyContin and Dilaudid and the 
fact that these drugs were dispensed concurrently without any documentation of 
communication with the prescriber, Respondents conduct fell below the standard of care· 
in dispensing Prescription No. 848840. (RT 7/24/0755:19-21,55-56,57:1-10.) 

63. There is no pharmacy documentation showing that Respondent Simon or 
any other pharmacist at All Med Drugs communicated their concerns regarding the large 
quantity and increases in the amounts for Patient L.T.'s prescription to Dr. Huff or that 
there was any documentation of Dr. Huff's rationale for increasing the amount. With 
respect to L.T., Respondent Simon opined that the dispensing of Patient L.T.'s 
prescriptions did not fall below the standard of care for the same reasons provided in 
Factual Finding No. 49. (RT 7/26/07 151 :16-21.) However, for the same reasons 
explained in Factual Findings Nos. 40 and 45, there is no basis for Respondent Simon's 
opinions. As a result, Respondent Simon's testimony regarding Patient L.T.'s 
prescriptions is not persuasive. 

Dealings with Patient R. S. 

64. Related to R.S.'s father's complaint to the Board (discussed at Factual 
Finding 5, ante), R.S. provided a statement on February 3, 2003. In her statement, and 
alleged by Complainant as an aggravating circumstance in the instant action, R.S. 
alleged, among other things, that on a day uncertain, Respondent Simon gave R.S. three 
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small papers containing prescription information for Hydromorphone (8 mg.), Roxicodone 
(30 mg.), and OxyContin (80 mg.), each medication described on a separate paper. RS. 
further alleged that Respondent Simon told RS. that if RS. could find a doctor to fill those 
three prescriptions, Respondent Simon would, in turn, buy them from RS. According to 
RS., Respondent Simon suggested to RS. that Dr. Michael Huff would likely be willing to 
fill the prescriptions. The evidence did not establish RS.'s allegations. (See Legal 
Conclusion 48 & fn. 28.) 

65. RS. is a woman who, for over a decade, has taken various narcotic pain 
medications for a joint disease problem. She has been addicted to narcotic pain 
medications for approximately the last 1 0 years. Her addiction has led her to seek out the 
drugs from various medical and dental professionals, whether medically indicated or not. 
On several occasions in the past, RS. has pretended to be a doctor and telephoned false 
prescriptions to pharmacies to acquire narcotic medication without her prescribing 
physician's authorization. RS. was convicted of a crime for these activities in the Ventura 
County Superior Court in the late 1990s. The parties did not proffer evidence of RS.'s 
conviction. 

66. At hearing, the Board's inspector in this matter was asked whether she 
considered RS.'s admitted history of calling in false prescriptions an important fact to 
consider in pursuing RS.'s allegations against Respondents. The Inspector refused to 
describe RS.'s history as an important fact, and only agreed that she would consider it 
"informative." The Inspector did not belieVe that RS.'s admitted history would affect her 
reliance on RS. in the investigation because, in the Inspector's view, RS. was not the 
focus of the investigation. The Inspector acknowledged that she did not investigate R.S.'s 
background to make any determination regarding RS.'s credibility: 

67. It was established that at sometime uncertain, Respondent Simon hired RS. 
as a front-end clerk at All Med Drugs, but that Respondent Simon terminated RS. within a 
matter of days. The evidence did not conclusively establish the particulars of this 
employment action. 

68. At hearing, the parties stipulated that Respondents filled and dispensed 
prescriptions for RS. without the authorization of RS.'s prescribing physician and without 
a valid prescription. Specifically, Respondent Simon (or someone under her supervision) 

20 filled prescription number 833105 for Lortab (10-500 mg.), without a prescription, on July 
29, August 14 and 29, and September 9, 2002.21 The stipulation included the fact that 
Respondent Simon (or someone under her supervision) also refilled prescription number 

20 Lortab is the brand name of the generic drug, Hydrocodone, with Acetaminophen. It is an analgesic 
Schedule III controlled substance. 

21 Complainant alleged additional dates (September 13, and October ii, 2002) under prescription number 
833105, to which Respondents' counsels stipulated at hearing, as noted in Factual Finding 68. [continued] 
However, the patient drug history established that the prescriptions for Lortab on September 13, and 
October 11, 2002, were under prescription number 836415. 
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828982 for Lortab (10-500 mg.) without obtaining authorization from the prescribing 
physician on June 19 and 24, 2002. 

69. The evidence did not establish how RS. went about presenting the 
unauthorized prescriptions. Respondent Simon could not remember the specific instances 
when these false prescriptions were filled and dispensed, but, at those times, Respondent 
Simon believed every prescription she had filled and dispensed to RS. was legitimate and 
valid. She acknowledged at hearing that, in these instances (those in Factual Finding 68, 
including footnote 21), it was "unfortunate" and she wished she had "caught" RS. sooner. 
(RT 7/27/0763-64.) 

70.Sydejko opined that even if RS. phoned in false prescriptions, as 
Respondent Simon impliedly speculated at hearing, the prescriptions at issue were, 
nonetheless, early refills that Respondent Simon should not have filled for that reason 
alone. In the ninth cause for discipline in the Accusation, Complainant alleged that 
Prescription No. 828982 for RS. was filled inappropriately early on June 19 and June 24, 
2002. (State's Ex. 1, p. 11-12.) 

Early Refills for Patient R. S. 

71. At hearing, the parties also stipulated that Respondents dispensed the fills or 
refills of Lortab to Patient RS. at All Med Drugs, as set forth in Table C. (7/19/0752-54.) 
However, the Superior Court found that this stipulation was limited to an agreement only 
that the refills occurred on the dates indicated below, not that these refills were "early." 

72.· TABLE C 

Medication Rx# Rx Date Previous Rx Date Estimated 
Supply 

Hydrocodone (10-500 mg.) 822513 3/8/02 3/6/02 7 days 
827367 5/10102 5/7102 15 days 
828982 5/31/02 5/29/02 10 days 
828982 6/19/02 6/11/02 10 days 
828982 6/24/02 6/19/02 10 days 
828982 6/27/02 6/24/02 10 days 
828982 7/1/02 6/27/02 10 days 
831578 7/5/02 7/1/02 10 days 
831578 7/8/02 7/5/02 10 days 
831578 7/15/02 7/8102 10 days 
831578 7/18/02 7/15/02 10 days 
831578 7/19/02 7/18/02 10 days 
831578 7/22/02 7/19/02 10 days 
836415 9/13/02 9/9102 10 days 

73. In addition to those prescriptions in Table C, Complainant alleged that two 
other prescriptions for Lortab constituted early refills. However, in Sydejko's opinion, 
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those refills, on April 5, 2002 (prescription # 822513), and May 29, 2002 (prescription # 
828982), were not early refills and thus not below the standard of care. Sydejko reached 
this opinion after assessing that the former was dispensed four days after RS. had 
received the previous prescription, a seven-day supply, and the latter was dispensed 19 
days after having received the previous prescription, a 15-day supply. In all other cases of 
those listed in Table C, Sydejko agreed that Respondents early filling of these 
prescriptions for RS. was an extreme departure from the standard of care. In particular, 
Respondent opined that a reasonably prudent pharmacist would not have filled these 
prescriptions because it was "too much of a pattern showing too many early refills." (RT 
7/24/07 72: 12-23.) Regardless, the Superior Court found that the Board erred in 
concluding that Respondent Simon stipulated that the refills listed in Table C were "early". 
The Superior Court also found that the Board erred in failing to consider Respondent . 
Simon's testimony about why she believed the prescriptions were legitimately filled on 
these dates and were not "early". Respondent Simon testified that she "believed" RS. 
brought in a single prescription, but could not pay for it all, receiving the pills as she paid 
portions of the total. The Superior Court found this evidence "weak", but supported by the 
Board's findings regarding RS.'s lack of credibility. Accordingly, this means that the 
Board's finding that Respondent Simon committed gross negligence in permitting early 
refills for Patient RS. was not supported by the weight of the evidence. 

The Unauthorized Actions of a Pharmacy Technician 

74. The parties stip1ulated at hearing that, in 2003 and 2004, a pharmacy 
technician at All Med Drugs, Christina Burgos,processed prescriptions and refills for 
family members and changed the quantity and refill availability on those prescriptions, 
without the authorization of the prescribing physician. Those prescriptions are set forth in 
Table D, post. 

75. TABLE D 

Medication Rx# Dispense 
Date 

Refill 
Date 

Unauthorized Change 

Naproxen (250 mg.) 844083 1/2/03 4/8/03 unauthorized prescription 
Lisinopril (10 mg.) 844333 1/6/03 2/3/03 

3/7/03 
4/3/03 

unauthorized prescription 

Metformin (500 mg.) 852471 4/29/03 6/21/03 unauthorized prescription 
Lasix (20 mg.) 844506 1/8/03 4/3/03 

7/23/03 
10/17/03 

210 unauthorized tablets 
dispensed 

Lisinopril (1 mg.) 
, 

850914 7/14/03 9/24/03 
1/12/04 

120 unauthorized tablets 
dispensed 

Metformin (500 mg.) 855939 7/23/03 9/24/03 
11/11/03 
1112104 

100 unauthorized tablets 
dispensed 

Metformin (500 mg.) 872252 2/16/04 5/5104 
7/8/04 
9/8/04 

120 unauthorized tablets 
dispensed 
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Vicodin H.D. 846718 2/21/03 3/12/03 
3/26/03 
6/26/03 
7/22/03 

unauthorized prescription 

Vicodin H.P. 859159 8/13/03 9/11/03 
10/9/03 
'10/29/03 
12/3/03 

unauthorized prescription 

Vicodin H.P. 868000 12/19/03 1/20/04 
2/4/04 
4/8/04 
4/28/04 

unauthorized prescription 

Vicodin E.S. 847738 3/7/03 dosage directions changed 
without authorization 

76. During the time Respondent Simon was the Pharmacist-in-charge, she was 
unaware that Christina Burgos was processing prescriptions, as set forth in Table D, 
without physician authorization. 

The Twelve Thousand Dollar Check 

77. On November 20,2001, Respondent Simon wrote and signed a check from 
All Med Drugs to herself for $12,256.49. Respondent Simon had the authority to ,sign 
checks for All Med Drugs. Sometime thereafter, a co-owner of All Med Drugs questioned 
Respondent Simon regarding the payment. Respondent Simon explained that she had 
bought supplies for All Med Drugs by purchasing medical supplies from pharmacies that 
were closing or going out of business. For unexplained reasons, Respondent Simon 
purchased the supplies in cash (her own cash), over a period of approximately three to 
five weeks from a pharmacy called MTC Pharmacy (MTC), in Van Nuys, California.22 At 
the time of the purchases, Respondent Simon did not request, or receive, a receipt. 
Thereafter, and in response to the co-owner's inquiry, Respondent Simon asked for and 
acquired one invoice from MTC for the various cash purchases. The invoice was dated 
November 10, 2001, and showed one payment of $12,256.49. The invoice showed no 
itemized purchases, only stating "Medical Supplies," and in the space reserved for the "bill 
to" and "ship to" addresses, the word, "Cash," appeared. Upon seeing the invoice, the co
owner accepted Respondent Simon's explanation and his earlier concerns that prompted 
his inquiry were satisfied. Between November 20,2001 and the present, the co-owner 
has never pursued reimbursement from Respondent Simon nor claimed in any way that 
Respondent Simon owed All Med Drugs any portion of the $12,256.49 check payment. 

78. On November 20 and 21,2000, MTC was broken into and its inventory was 
stolen. The police theft report showed, almost exclusively, an inventory of medications as 
the items stolen. About a year later, MTC filed a Discontinuance of Business form with the 

22 Respondent Simon was the Pharmacist-in-Charge for MTC from December 10, 1999 to January 22, 
2000. 
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Board on October 30,2001, wherein it stated, "inventory lost in theft." The evidence did 
not conclusively establish whether the inventory stolen left MTC with no medical supplies 
other than medications. MTC formally disassociated on November 14,2001. 

The Modified Prescription 

79. On May 10,2002, a prescription for patient L.H. (prescription # 827661) for 
1,000 tablets of Roxicodone (30 mg.) was processed at All Med Drugs. The auxiliary 
label23 had handwriting that read on one part of the label, "P/F," and on another part of the 
label, "- 100 of 15 mg. strength!" 

80. When questioned at hearing about the handwriting, Respondent Simon 
admitted that the "letter C looks like my C", but stated that the rest of the writing indicated 
that the prescription "was touched by numerous people." (RT 7/26/07 162:21-25.) She 
had a "vague recollection of what was happening" with this prescription, but did recall that 
All Med Drugs experienced a shortage of Roxicodone (30 mg.) tablets during the time this 
particular prescription was filled. (RT 7/26/07 161 :11-14.) Respondent Simon surmised 
that the handwriting on the label meant that either she or someone at All Med Drugs 
dispensed 100 tablets of Roxicodone to L.H., in 15-milligram strength instead of the 
prescribed 30-milligram strength. There was no evidence that L.H.'s prescribing physician 
authorized any change in prescription strength. In explaining the handwriting, Respondent 
Simon stated that if indeed she modified and dispensed Roxicodone, she did it because 
she would have felt compelled to dispense some Roxicodone to L.H., albeit at a different 
strength, to afford L.H. some pain relief. 

The Medication Audit 

81. As part of its investigation and inspections, the Board, through its 
investigator, conducted an audit of invoices, inventory records, and prescription records 
for the period of February 6, 2002 through March 11, 2003. The audit found that, on March 
11,2003, All Med Drugs had 800 more tablets of Roxicodone (30 mg.) and a shortage of 
982 tablets of OxyContin SR (80 mg.) than what could be accounted for in the inventory 
records. An audit of Dilaudid (8 mg.) tablets found all Dilaudid tablets accounted for at the 
pharmacy. 

82. Respondent Simon first questioned the audit's accuracy, arguing that since 
the drugs and the records from All Med Drugs were seized during the Board's inspections, 
she could not reconcile the discrepancies. Further, Respondent Simon explained that the 
logs at All Med Drugs used to quantify and track the medication inventory were not always 
updated daily. Depending on the workload, a day or two could pass before the medication 
logs were updated. Given the quantities of Roxicodone and OxyContin that were 
dispensed at All Med Drugs, Respondent Simon argued that it was likely the records could 
be reconciled satisfactorily had she had a chance to review the complete records. The 
evidence did not prove Respondent Simon's argument. (See Legal Conclusion 35.) 

23 The auxiliary label is a second label, identical to the one that is placed on the vial provided to the patient. 
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The CURES Data 

83. . Respondents are required by state law to submit prescription information to 
the State Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES). 
CURES is a statewide data base system that collects prescription information for all 
dispensed Schedule II controlled substances. As part of the Board's investigation, the 
Board's inspector requested All Med Drugs's CURES reports from the Board, for calendar 
years 2001, .2002, and 2003. The Inspector requested these reports using pharmacy 
license numbers 45269 and 19488. License number 19488 was All Med Drugs's previous 
pharmacy license number under a previous owner. The resultant CURES reports for 2001 
and 2002, proffered by Complainant, showed no reporting by All Med Drugs under either 
pharmacy license number. However, when Respondent Simon's counsel obtained 
CURES reports from the California Department of Justice's Bureau of Narcotic 
Enforcement, the CURES reports showed that from January 1,2001 to June 30,2001, All 
Med Drugs did report dispensed Schedule II controlled substances, under license number 
19488. The CURES reports for 2003, proffered by Complainant, showed that All Med 
Drugs did not report any dispensed controlled substances in January, February, March, or 
April 2003 under license number 45269, but began reporting in May 2003. Complainant 
did not offer a CURES report for 2003, under pharmacy license number 19488. 

84. While the Pharmacist-in-Charge at All Med Drugs, Respondent Simon 
believed pharmacy staff was submitting CURES data regularly at all times. 

The Expired Drugs 

85. On March 11, 2003, as part of the Board's investigation, 55 medications 
were taken from All Med Drugs with varying expiration dates. Two medications had 2001 
expiration dates, 26 medications had 2002 expiration dates, and the remaining 
medications had expiration dates ranging from January to December 2003. 

86. On March 11, 2003, the Board's inspector produced an inspection report that 
directed Respondent Simon to remove all expired drugs from the shelves. When the 
Inspector returned two days later, on March 13, 2003, the Inspector still found expired 
drugs on the shelves. The Inspector then ordered Respondent Simon to remove all 
expired drugs from the shelves by March 19, 2003; Respondent Simon complied. At 
hearing, Respondent Simon did not deny the existence of expired drugs, and did not 
dispute the expiration dates of the 55 medications taken from All Med Drugs on March 11, 
2003. 

87. Sydejko acknowledged that most pharmacies would likely have some 
expired drugs on its shelves, but in the case of All Med Drugs, the situation was not like 
what one would commonly find in most pharmacies due to the ages of the involved drugs. 
Having such expired medications on the shelves, Sydejko opined, was indicative that 
pharmacy staff did not execute regular reviews, and was consequently indicative of a 
more serious problem. At hearing, Respondent argued that the expired drugs remained 
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on the shelves because she understood all medications needed to be in a secured and 
locked area, and therefore, when uncovered by the Board's inspector, the drugs were kept 
in the secured area, awaiting removal and destruction. 

Complainant's Costs 

88. Complainant incurred $34,515 in investigation and inspection costs. 
Complainant also incurred $103,588.75 in costs to prosecute this matter through the 
California Department of Justice, Office of the Attorney General. 

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

Expert Testimony 

1. Expert testimony is required to establish the standard of care with respect to 
a profession. See, Flowers v. Torrance Memorial Hospital Medical Center (1994) 8 CalAth 

th 992,1001; Williams v. Prida (1999) 75 Cal.AppA 1417, 1424. 

2. A profession is a vocation or occupation requiring special and advanced 
education and skill predominately of an intellectual nature. The practice of pharmacy, like 
the practice of medicine, is a profession. Vermont & 110th Medical Arts Pharmacy v. 
Board of Pharmacy (1981) 125 Cal.App.3d 19,25. 

3. A witness is qualified to offer an expert opinion if he or she possesses the 
special knowledge, skill, experience, training or education sufficient to qualify as an expert 
on the subject to which the testimony relates. (Evidence Code Section 720.) 

4. In cases where experts are needed to establish negligence, their testimony 
sets the standard of care, and is said to be "conclusive." The California Court of Appeal in 

th Osborn v. Irwin Memorial Blood Bank (1992) 5 Cal.AppA 234,277, quoting from a list of 
authorities, stated as follows: "Ordinarily, where a professional person is accused of 
negligence in failing to adhere to accepted standards within his profession the accepted 
standards must be established only by qualified expert testimony [citations] unless the 
standard is a matter of common knowledge. [Citation.] However, when the matter in 
issue is within the knowledge of experts only and not within common knowledge, expert 
evidence is conclusive and cannot be disregarded." 

The Standard of Proof 

5. Complainant must prove her case by clear and convincing evidence to a 
reasonable certainty. Clear and convincing evidence means the evidence is "so clear as to 
leave no substantial doubt" and is "sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating assent 
of every reasonable mind." (Mathieu v. Norrell Corporation (2004) 115 Cal.AppAth 1174, 
1190 [citing Mock v. Michigan Millers Mutual Ins. Co. (1992) 4 Cal.AppAth 306, 332-333].) 
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Legal Responsibility 

6. Business and Professions Code section 4113 states in pertinent part: 

[,-r] . . . [,-r] 

(b) The pharmacist-in-charge shall be responsible for a pharmacy's 
compliance with all state and federal laws and regulations pertaining to the practice 
of pharmacy. 

7. ''The licensee, if he elects to operate his business through employees must 
be responsible to the licensing authority for their conduct in the exercise of his 
license ... By virtue of the ownership of a ... Iicense such owner has a responsibility 
to see to it that the license is not used in violation of the law." Banks v. Board of 
Pharmacy (1984) 161 CaLApp.3d 708, 713, citing Ford Dealers Assn. v. 
Department of Motor Vehicles (1982) 32 CaL3d 347. 

The Sizeable and Copious Prescriptions 

8. A licensee may be disciplined on the basis of ordinary negligence when 
charged with the "clearly excessive furnishing of controlled substances." Smith v. State 
Board of Pharmacy (1997) 37 CaLAppAth 229, 246-247. 

9. 	 Business and Professions Code section .4300 states in pertinent part: 

(a) 	 Every license may be suspended or revoked. 

(b) 	 The board shall discipline the holder of any license issued by the 
board ... whose case has been heard by the board and found guilty, 
by any of the following methods: 

(2) 	 Placing him or her on probation. 

(4) 	 Revoking his or her license. 

(5) Taking any other action in relation to disciplining him or her as the 
board in its discretion may deem proper. 

(e) The proceedings under this article shall be conducted in conducted in 
accordance with Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 11500) of Part 1 of 
Division3 of the Government Code, and the board shall have all the powers 

, granted therein. The action shall be final, except that the propriety of the 
action is subject to review by the superior court pursuant to Section 1 094.5 
of the Code of Civil Procedure. 
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10. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 
to, any of the following: 

[ffi··· ml 
(d) The clearly excessive furnishing of controlled substances in violation of 

subdivision (a) of Section 11153 of the Health and Safety Code.24 

11. Health and Safety Code section 11153 states in pertinent part: 

(a) A prescription for a controlled substance shall only be issued for a 
legitimate medical purpose by an individual practitioner acting in the usual course 
of his or her professional practice. The responsibility for the proper prescribing and 
dispensing of controlled substances is upon the prescribing practitioner, but a 
corresponding responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription. 
Except as authorized by this division, the following are not legal prescriptions: (1) 
an order purporting to be a prescription which is issued not in the usual course of 
professional treatment or in legitim~te and authorized research; or (2) an order for 
an addict or habitual user of controlled substances, which is issued not in the 
course of professional treatment or as part of an authorized narcotic treatment 
program, for the purpose of providing the user with controlled substances, sufficient 
to keep him or her comfortable by maintaining customary use. 

12. The Administrative Law Judge in this case found that Respondent Simon's 
past actions, including contacting the prescribing physician regarding concerns about 
prescriptions, demonstrated that she acted as a reasonable and prudent pharmacist would 
when encountering "unconventional" prescriptions. However, the Board disagrees with 
this assessment for the following reasons. The evidence persuasively showed that 
Respondent Simon could not establish personal knowledge about the prescriptions, the 
circul11stances surrounding the prescriptions at issue in this case, or that her usual and 
customary practices regarding the filling of prescriptions were followed in this case. The 
evidence persuasively showed that Respondent Simon's personal opinions and testimony 
regarding how a prescription at issue in this case may have been handled at All Med 
Drugs is speculative and not entitled to any weight. Further, Respondent's contradictory 
and inconsistent testimony in this case undermines Respondent Simon's credibility in this 

24 Complainant alleged in the Accusation that Respondents also violated Section 4301(e) of the Business 
and Professions Code. However, that Section cross-references Section 11153.5 of the Health and Safety 
Code, which applies to manufacturers and wholesalers and has no applicability to the facts in this case. As 
a result, violation of Section 4301 (e) was not relied upon in reaching any of the legal conclusions in this 
case. 

34 




case. Her selective memory regarding statements she made to law enforcement officials 
also undermines her credibility. 

This conclusion is based upon Factual Findings 10 through 26. 

13. The testimony of Complainant's expert Jeb Sydejko - who was the only 
expert to offer expert opinion on the standard of care in this case -- established that there 
was simply no justification for the dispensing of the amounts of Schedule II narcotics listed 
in Tables A and B. However, the Administrative Law Judge found Sydejko's testimony did 
not consider the patients' diagnoses, medical histories, or previously attempted drug 
therapies. Further, in the Administrative Law Judge's opinion, Respondent Simon "took 
actions that elicited a wide-range of factors" to determine whether a prescription was 
excessive before dispensing. However, the Board disagrees with this assessment for the 
reasons stated in Legal Conclusion No. 12. Further, Sydejko's expert testimony in this 
case established the standard of care for pharmacy practice .. Although the Superior Court 
agreed that Respondent Simon could qualify as an expert, the Superior Court concluded 
that she did not offer any opinion on the standard of care or explain how her conduct 
complied with the standard of care. There was also no evidence that Sydejko's opinion 
should be discounted, particularly when reviewing quantities dispensed in this case, 
simply because he did not know the patients' diagnoses, medical histories, or previously 
attempted drug therapies. Sydejko established several bases for determining whether a 
particular prescription for a large quantity was valid and should have been dispensed. 

This conclusion is based upon Factual Findings 27,29-63. 

14. Sydejko's testimony established that Respondents excessively furnished 
prescriptions that went beyond the recommended dose and frequency for prescriptions 
listed in Table A. In his testimony, Sydejko highlighted the fact that the manufacturer of 
OxyContin does not intend the drug to be used on an "as needed" basis, though 
Respondent Simon dispensed it in this manner, pursuant to written prescriptions. 
However, the Administrative Law Judge found that he could not reconcile Sydejko's 
opinion with the fact that Schedule II narcotics have "no upper limit" in issued quantity. As 
a result, the Administrative Law Judge determined that the pharmacy standard for 
dispensing Schedule II drugs was "elusive." The Board disagrees with this assessment. 
Such a conclusion would be untenable to the Board because it would mean either that 
pharmacists are unfettered by any standards when determining whether to dispense or 
that pharmacists must defer to the prescriber when dispensing. This is contrary to the 
standard enunciated by pharmacist expert Sydejko. In Sydejko's opinion, the decision to 
dispense in a given situation is an individual decision but, an analysis of the 
appropriateness of the decision takes into consideration objective factors that include a 
history of early fills of these and other drugs, the manufacturer's recommendations for 
dosage, consultation with the prescribing physician and patient to obtain the rationales for 
their pain therapy and recommended alternatives, documentation of consultations with the 
patient or prescriber, an awareness of other drugs being concurrently dispensed and a 
review of the prescribing patterns of the physician (Factual Findings 31-63). As 
Respondents could not demonstrate that the foregoing were considered with respect to 
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the prescriptions listed in Tables A and B, Respondents' dispensing of the prescriptions 
fell below the standard of care. 

15. With the exception of Prescription No. 836842 for Patient K.B., Complainant 
established, by clear and convincing evidence to a reasonable certainty, that the 
prescriptions in Tables A and B were clearly excessive and that dispensing those 
prescriptions by Respondents was below the standard of care. Complainant specifically 
alleged that the prescriptions in Table A were beyond the recommended dose and dosing 
frequencies, and that the prescriptions in Table B were for excessively large quantities. It 
was undisputed that the dosages in the Table A prescriptions were large and frequent, 
and that the Table B prescriptions were for large quantities .. It was also established by 
clear and convincing evidence that Respondents excessively furnished controlled 
substances to a patient when a prescription was dispensed prior to the consumption of the 
previous prescription for T.M.. Complainant also established by clear and convincing 
evidence that Respondents actions in dispensing to D.S. multiple controlled substances 
concurrently fell below the standard of care. Respondent Simon knew or should have 
known based on the facts presented that said prescriptions were not issued for legitimate 
medical purposes. 

This conclusion is based upon Factual Findings 6 through 63, and on Legal 
Conclusions 1-14. 

16. Cause exists to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist 
license, for unprofessional conduct, for the excessive furnishing of controlled substances, 
or the improper dispensing of prescriptions, pursuant to Business and Professions Code 
section 4301, subdivision (d), and Health and Safety Codesection 11153, as set forth in 
Factual Findings 1-2,4-63, and Legal Conclusions 1-15. 

17. Cause exists to discipline Respondent TOT's pharmacy license, for 
unprofessional conduct, for the excessive furnishing of controlled substances,25 by 
Respondent Simon or its employees pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 
4301, subdivision (d), and Health and Safety Code section 11153, as set forth in Factual 
Findings 1-2, 4-63, and Legal Conclusions 1-5, 7-15. 

Patient Consultations 

18. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 
to, any of the following: 

25 Respondent TOT was not charged in the Second Cause for discipline. As a result, it was not found in 
violation of the Second Cause for discipline alleged in the Accusation. (State's Ex. 1.) 
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(b) Incompetence. 

19. Incompetence is a relative term that indicates an absence of qualification, 
ability, or fitness to perform a prescribed duty or function. According to the California 
Court of Appeal in Pollack v. Kinder (1978) 85 Cal.App.3d 833, 837, "It is commonly 
defined to mean a general lack of present ability to perform a given duty as distinguished 
from inability to perform such duty as a result of mere neglect or omission." 

20. Complainant alleged that Respondent Simon's failure to document her 
consultations with either patients or physicians, in the cases of those patients and 
prescriptions set forth in Tables A and B, constituted incompetence. Sydejko opined that a 
reasonable and prudent pharmacist would document patient consultations due to the 
quantity and dosage of narcotic medications, and the failure to do so was incompetence. 
However, Sydejko did not explain why he thought Respondent Simon was not "capable" of 
performing that duty. Respondent Simon testified that she consulted with patients as to 
the prescriptions that concerned her and that she consulted with Dr. Michael Huff, the 
prescribing physician when questions arose. (Factual Findings 10 through 13.) The 
evidence did not establish that Respondent Simon was not capable of documenting her 
consultations, only that Respondent Simon failed to do so for the prescriptions in Tables A 
and B. As a result, Complainant did not establish by clear and convincing evidence that 
Respondent Simon acted incompetently with respect to the prescriptions listed in Tables A 
and B. 

21 . Cause does not exist to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist 
license, for incompetence, for failing to document patient and physician consultations, 
pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (b), as set forth in 
Factual Findings 1,4-13,30, and Legal Conclusions 1-5, and 18-20.26 

Deviating from Prescription Requirements 

22. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 
to, any of the following: 

[~] ... [~] 

(0) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting in 
or abetting the violation of or conspiring to violate any provision or term of this 
chapter or of the applicable federal and state laws and regulations governing 
pharmacy, including regulations established by the board. 

26 Respondent TOT was not charged in the Third Cause for discipline listed in the Accusation. 
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23. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1716 st"ates: 

Pharmacists shall not deviate from the requirements of a prescription except 
upon the prior consent of the prescriber or to select the drug product in accordance 
with Section 4073 of the Business and Professions Code. 

24. Respondent Simon, or someone under her supervision at All Med Drugs, 
modified patient L.H.'s prescription, by filling and dispensing Roxicodone (15 mg.) instead 
of Roxicodone (30 mg.). (Factual Finding 79.) The evidence did not establish the change 
was authorized by the prescribing physician. (Factual Finding 80.) Respondent Simon's 
explanation, that the pharmacy was likely out of the appropriate strength medication, does 
not justify the pharmacy's unilateral and unauthorized action, even if her intention was to 
provide patient L.H. with medication to relieve pain. Therefore, Respondent Simon 
violated Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (0), and California 
Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1716. 

25. Cause exists to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacy license, 
for unprofessional conduct, for Respondent Simon's or someone under her supervision's 
deviation from the requirements of a prescription, pursuant to Business and Professions . 
Code section 4301, subdivision (0), and California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 
1716, as set forth in Factual Findings 1-2,4,5,27-30,38,79,80 and Legal Conclusions 
1-7,22-25, and 73-74.27 

Reviewing Patient Profiles 

26. Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (0) is set 
forth in pertinent part, in Legal Conclusion 22, ante. 

27. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1707.3 states: 

Prior to consultation as set forth in section 1707.2, a pharmacist shall review 
a patient's drug therapy and medication record before each prescription drug is 
delivered. The review shall include screening for severe potential drug therapy 
problems. 

28. The Administrative Law Judge found Respondent Simon testified credibly 
that she reviewed patient profiles before dispensing the medications.28 He found that, 
during her testimony, Respondent Simon never feigned a lack of knowledge as to the 

27 Respondent TOT was not charged in the Fourth Cause for discipline listed in the Accusation. 

28 Government Code section 1142S.S0(b) states, in pertinent part, "If the factual basis for the decision 
includes a determination based substantially on the credibility of a witness, the statement shall identify any 
specific evidence of the observed demeanor, manner, or attitude of the witness that supports the 
determination, and on judicial review the court shall give great weight to the determination to the extent the 
determination identifies the observed demeanor, manner, or attitude of the witness that supports it." Other 
findings of credibility did not contain any observations of demeanor or attitude of Respondent Simon. 
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quantities, dosages, or frequent dispensing of the medications prescribed. 
Notwithstanding the Board's findings to the contrary regarding Respondent Simon's 
testimony (Factual Findings 10-26 and Legal Conclusion 12), the evidence did not 
establish by clear and convincing evidence that either Respondent Simon or another 
pharmacist at All Med Drugs actually failed to review patient profiles. 

29. Cause does not exist to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist 
license, for unprofessional conduct, for failing to review patient profiles, pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (0), and California Code of 
Regulations, title 16, section 1707.3, as set forth in Factual Findings 1, 10-12, 30, 38 and 
Legal Conclusions 5, and 26-28. 

30. Cause does not exist to revoke or suspend Respondent TOT's pharmacy 
license, for unprofessional conduct, for Respondent Simon's failure to review patient 
profiles, pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (0), and 
California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1707.3, as set forth in Factual Findings 1, 
10-12, and Legal Conclusions 5, and 26-28. 

Failure to Maintain Accurate Accountability 

31. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 

. to, any of the following: . 

[~] ... [~] 

U) The violation of any of the statutes of this state or ofthe United States 
regulating controlled substances and dangerous drugs. 

32. Business and Professions Code section 4081 states in pertinent part: 

(a) All records of manufacture and of sale, acquisition, or disposition of 
dangerous drugs ... shall be at all times during business hours open to inspection 
by authorized officers of the law, and shall be preserved for at least three years 
from the date of making. A current inventory shall be kept by every ... pharmacy .. 
. holding a currently valid and unrevoked certificate, license, permit, [or] registration 
... who maintains a stock of dangerous drugs .... 

(b) The owner, officer, and partner of any pharmacy ... shall be jointly 
responsible, with the pharmacist-in-charge ... for maintaining the records and 
inventory described in this section. 

33. Health and Safety Code section 11208 states: 
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In a prosecution under this division, proof that a defendant received or has 
had in his possession at any time a greater amount of controlled substances than is 
accounted for by any record required by law or that the amount of controlled 
substances possessed by the defendant is a lesser amount than is accounted for 
by any record required by law is prima facie evidence of guilt. 

34. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1718 states in pertinent part: 

"Current inventory" as used in Sections 4081 and 4332 of the Business and 
Professions Code shall be considered to inClude complete accountability for all 
dangerous drugs handled by every licensee enumerated in Sections 4081 and 
4332. 

35. The Board's audit established discrepancies in the number of Roxicodone 
and OxyContin tablets. (Factual Finding 82.) While it is possible, as Respondent argued, 
that given the number of Roxicodone and OxyContin tablets that the pharmacy regularly 
dispensed, the inventory was simply not reconciled at the time the pharmacy's records 
were seized by the Board, the evidence did not prove that argument. Moreover, the audit 
of Dilaudid tablets found no such discrepancy. (Ibid.) Therefore, the evidence established 
that Respondent Simon failed to maintain an accurate accounting of Roxicodone and 
OxyContin, in violation of Business and Professions Code sections 4301, subdivision 0), 
4081, subdivision (a), Health and Safety Code section. 11208, and California Code of 
Regulations, title 16, section 1718. 

36. Cause exists to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist license, 
for unprofessional conduct, for failing to maintain accurate accountability, pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code sections 4301, subdivision 0), 4081, subdivision (a), 
Health and Safety Code section 11208, and California Code of Regulations, title 16, 
section 1718, as setforth in Factual Findings 1, 2, 4, 5, 9, 30, 38, 81, 82, and Legal 
Conclusions 1-7, 31-35, and 73-74. 

37. Cause exists to discipline Respondent TOT's pharmacy license, for 
unprofessional conduct, for Respondent Simon's failure to maintain accurate 
accountability, pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 4301, subdivision 0), 
4081, subdivisions (a) and (b), and California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1718, 
as set forth in Factual Findings 1,2,4,5,9,30,38,81,82, and Legal Conclusions 1-5,7, 
31-35, and 73-75. 

The CURES Reporting 

38. Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision 0) is set forth in 
pertinent part, in Legal Conclusion 31, ante. 

39. Business and Professions Code. section 4301, subdivision (0) is set forth in 
pertinent part, in Legal Conclusion 22, ante. 
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40. Business and Professions Code section 4113 states in pertinent part: 

[,-r] .. ·m] 

(b) The pharmacist-in-charge shall be responsible for a pharmacy's 
compliance with all state and federal laws and regulations pertaining to the practice 
of pharmacy. 

41. 	 Health and Safety Code section 11165 states in pertinent part: 

(a) To assist law enforcement and regulatory agencies in their efforts to 
control the diversion and resultant abuse of Schedule II controlled substances, and 
for statistical analysis, education, and research, the Department of Justice shall ... 
establish the Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System 
(CURES) for the electronic monitoring of the prescribing and dispensing of 
Schedule II controlled substances by all practitioners authorized to prescribe or 
dispense these controlled substances. 

42. 	 California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1715.5 states in pertinent 
part: 

The collection of information authorized by Health and Safety Code section 
11165 shall be provided as follows: 

(a) For each prescription for a Schedule II controlled substance, the 
dispensing pharmacy shall provide the following information: the full name and 
address of the patient; the gender and date of birth of the patient; the DEA (Drug 
Enforcement Administration) number of the prescriber; the triplicate prescription 
number; the pharmacy prescription number; the pharmacy license number; the 
NDC (National Drug Code) number and the quantity of the controlled substance; 
the ICD-9 (diagnosis code), if available; the date of issue of the prescription, the 
date of dispensing of the prescription, and the state medical license number of any 
prescriber using the DEA number of a government exempt facility. 

43. The CURES reports were unreliable and thus could not establish 
Complainant's allegation that Respondents failed to submit CURES data between 2001 
and 2003. While Complainant's evidence (from the Board of Pharmacy) showed no 
submissions by All Med Drugs in 2001 (under license # 45269 or license # 19488), 
Respondent's evidence (from the Department of Justice's Bureau of Narcotic 
Enforcement) showed regular submissions from January to June 2001 (under license # 
19488). The evidence did not draw a distinction between the two sources of CURES 
reports. Furthermore, whether by oversight or design, Complainant failed to proffer 
evidence of CURES reporting (or the lack thereof), in' 2003, under license number 19488. 
(Factual Finding 83.) Given that the previous license number (19488) elicited proper 
reporting in the first half of 2001, the evidence offered could not establish Respondents' 
failure to submit data to CURES in 2003, possibly under the previous license number. The 
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evidence of Respondent Simon's CURES reporting did not establish conclusive violations 
of state reporting requirements. 

44.· Cause does not exist to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist 
license, for unprofessional conduct, for failing to submit CURES data, pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code sections 4301, subdivisions G) and (0), 4113, subdivision 
(b), Health and Safety Code section 11165, and California Code of Regulations, title 16, 
section 1715.5, as set forth in Factual Findings 1,4, 5, 83, 84, and Legal Conclusions 5 
and 38-43. 

45. Cause does not exist to revoke or suspend Respondent TOT's pharmacy 
license, for unprofessional conduct, for Respondent Simon's failure to submit CURES 
data, pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 4301, subdivision G) and (0), 
4113, subdivision (b), Health and Safety Code section 11165, and California Code of 
Regulations, title 16, section 1715.5, as set forth in Factual Findings 1,4,5,83,84, and 
Legal Conclusions 5 and 38-43. 

Dispensing Prescriptions to Patient R. S. without a Prescription 

46. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 
to, any of the following: 

[~] ... [~] 

(e) The clearly excessive furnishing of controlled substances in violation 
of subdivision (a) of Section 11153.5 of the Health and Safety Code. Factors to be 
considered in determining whether the furnishing of controlled substances is clearly 
excessive shall include, but not be limited to, the amount of controlled substances 
furnished, the previous ordering pattern of the customer (including size and 
frequency of orders), the type and size of the customer, and where and to whom 
the customer distributes its product. 

(f) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, 
fraud, deceit, or corruption, whether the act is committed in the course of relations 
as a licensee or otherwise, and whether the .act is a felony or misdemeanor or not. 

47. Business and Professions Code section 4059 states in pertinent part: 

(a) A person may not furnish any dangerous drugs, except upon the 
prescription, except upon the prescription of a physician [or] dentist. ... 

Business and Professions Code section 4063 states in pertinent part: 
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No prescription for any dangerous drug ... may be refilled except upon 
authorization of the prescriber. 

48. The parties stipulated that Respondents filled and dispensed Lortab (10-500 
mg.) to patient RS. without a valid prescription. (Factual Finding 68.) The manner in 
which patient RS. obtained the Lortab from All Med Drugs was not established, but any 
allegations made by patient RS. in this proceeding carried little to no weight due to her 
admitted history of obtaining pain medications by fraudulent means.29 The Board 
inspector's failure to consider patient RS.'s credibility (Factual Finding 66) weakened 
Complainant's case as to RS.'s allegations. As Section 4301 (e) is not applicable to the 
Respondents in this case, it was not considered in reaching this decision (see discussion 
at fn. 24). The evidence further failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence that 
the dispensing of RS.'s fraudulent prescriptions by Respondent Simon were dishonest. 
Thus, while the parties' stipulation established violations of Business and Professions 
Code sections 4059 and 4063, the evidence failed to prove violations of Business and 
Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (f). 

49. Cause exists to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist license, 
for unprofessional conduct, for furnishing controlled substances without a prescription, 
pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 4059, and 4063, as set forth in 
Factual Findings 1,2,4,5,27-30,38,64-70, and Legal Conclusions 1-7, 46-48, and 73
74. 

50. Cause exists to discipline Respondent TOT's pharmacy license, for 
unprofessional conduct, for Respondent Simon's furnishing of controlled substances 
without a prescription, pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 4059, and 
4063, as set forth in Factual Findings 1,2,4,5,27-30,38,64-70, and Legal Conclusions 
1-5,7,46-48, and 73-75. 

51 . Cause does not exist to revoke .or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist 
license or Respondent TOT's pharmacy license, for unprofessional conduct, for 
Respondent Simon's furnishing of controlled substances without a prescription, pursuant 
to Business and Professions Code sections 4301, subdivisions (e) and (f), as set forth in 
Factual Findings 1,4, 5, 64-69 and Legal Conclusions 5 and 46-48. 

Dispensing Early Refills to Patient R.S. 

52. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 
to, any of the following: 

29 With little if any credibility given to R.S.'s testimony, her allegation, that Respondent Simon attempted to 
solicit R.S. to illegally acquire prescription narcotics for cash payments, was not established. (See Factual 
Finding 23, ante.) 
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(c) Gross negligence. 

53. Gross negligence is defined as "the want of even scant care or an extreme 
departure from the ordinary standard of conduct." (Eastburn v. Regional Fire Protection 
Authority (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1175, 1185-1186.) 

54. Of the 14 prescriptions in Table C (Factual Finding 72), two of those 
prescriptions were not improper early refills (prescription # 828982 on June 19, 2002, and 
prescription # 831578 on July 15, 2002), despite Sydejko's opinion to the contrary. While 
these two prescriptions could have constituted early refills if not for the Superior Court's 
findings, they would have been early by just a few days, similar to those other refills 
Sydejko found appropriate. (Factual Finding 73.) As to the remaining 12 prescriptions in 
Table C, Sydejko opined that the pattern of consistently early refills throughout May and 
July 2002 should have raised a concern for Respondent Simon, sufficient to have 
prompted, pursuant to her corresponding responsibility, some inquiry on her part with 
either patient R.S. or the prescribing physician. However, that opinion was based upon 
what the Superior Court determined was an unsupported belief that the refills were indeed 
"early." The Superior Court found that the Board erred in concluding that Respondent 
Simon stipulated that the refills listed in Table C were "early". The Superior Court also 
found that the Board erred in failing to consider Respondent Simon's testimony about why 
she believed the prescriptions were legitimately filled on these dates and were not filled 
early. Respondent Simon testified that she "believed" R.S. brought in a single 
prescription, but could not pay for it all, receiving the pills as she paid portions of the total. 
The Superior Court found this evidence "weak", but supported by the Board's findings 
regarding R.S.'s lack of credibility. Accordingly, this meant that the Board's finding that 
Respondent Simon committed gross negligence in permitting early refills for Patient R.S. 
was not supported by the weight of the evidence.This is supported by Factual Findings 64, 
65,71-73 and Legal Conclusion48. 

55. Cause does not exist to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist 
license, for unprofessional conduct, gross negligence, for dispensing early refills to Patient 
R.S., 
pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (C).3D 

Failing to Remove Expired Medications 

56. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... 

30 Respondent TOT was not charged in the Ninth Cause for discipline listed in the Accusation. 
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57. Business and Professions Code section 4342 states in pertinent part: 

(a) The board may institute any action or actions as may be provided by 
law and that, in its discretion, are necessary, to prevent the sale of pharmaceutical 
preparations and drugs that does not conform to the standard and tests as to the 
quality and strength, provided in the latest edition of the United States 
Pharmacopoeia or the National Formulary, or that violate any provision of the 
Sherman Food, Drug and Cosmetic Law (Part 5 (commencing with Section 
109875) of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code). 

58. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1716.2 states in pertinent 
part: 

(a) For the purpose of compounding in quantities larger than required for 
immediate dispensing by a prescriber or for future dispensing upon prescription, a 
pharmacy shall maintain records that include, but are not limited to: 

[~] .. ·m] 

(3) The expiration date of the finished product. This date must not exceed 
180 days or the shortest expiration date of any component in the finished product 
unless a longer date is supported by stability studies in the same type of packaging 
as furnished to the prescriber. Shorter dating than set forth in this subsection may 
be used if it is deemed appropriate in the professional judgment of the responsible 
pharmacist. 

59. Respondent Simon did not contest the existence of the 55 expired 
medications at All Med Drugs. (Factual Finding 86.) The evidence proved 55 medications 
were expired or had such close expiration dates as to render those medications expired in 
effect. Her argument that the expired drugs nonetheless needed to be secured and thus 
remain on the shelves explained their placement in a secured area, but it did not explain 
why at least 28 medications had 2001 and 2002 expiration dates and had not been 
removed before March 11, 2003. Therefore, Respondent Simon was in violation of 
Business and Professions Code sections 4301, 4342, subdivision (a), and California Code 
of Regulations, title 16, section 1716.2, subdivision (a)(3). 

60. Cause exists to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist license, 
for unprofessional conduct, for failing to remove expired drugs, pursuant to Business and 
Professions Code sections 4301,4342, subdivision (a), and California Code of 
Regulations, title 16, section 1716.2, subdivision (a)(3), as set forth in Factual Findings 1, 
2,4,5,27-30,85-87, and Legal Conclusions 1-7, 56-59, and 73, 74. 

61. Cause exists to discipline Respondent TOT's pharmacy license, for 
unprofessional conduct, for Respondent Simon's failure to remove expired drugs, 
pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 4301,4342, subdivision (a),and 
California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1716.2, subdivision (a)(3), as set forth in 
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Factual Findings 1, 2, 4, 5, 27-30, 38, 85-87, and Legal Conclusions 1-5, 7, 56-59, and 73
75,78. 

The Unauthorized Actions of the Pharmacy Technician 

62. Business and Professions Code section 4301 is set forth in pertinent part in 
Legal Conclusion 56, ante~ . 

63. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1714 states in pertinent part: 

[~] .. ·m] 

(b) Each pharmacy licensed by the board shall maintain its facilities, 
space, fixtures, and equipment so that drugs are safely and properly prepared, 
maintained, secured and distributed. The pharmacy shall be of sufficient size and 
unobstructed area to accommodate the safe practice of pharmacy. . 

[ffi .. ·m] 

(d) Each pharmacist while on duty shall be responsible for the security of 
the prescription department, including provisions for effective control against theft 
or diversion of dangerous drugs and devices, and records for such drugs and 
devices. Possession of a key to the pharmacy where dangerous drugs and 
controlled substances are stored shall be restricted to a pharmacist. 

64. Respondent Simon acknowledged that Pharmacy Technician Christina 
Burgos had filled prescriptions for family members while a pharmacy technician at All Med 
Drugs, actions that are not in violation of any law. However, the parties stipulated that . 
Burgos processed prescriptions and refills for family members: changing the quantity and 
refill availability on those prescriptions, without the authorization of the prescribing 
physician. (Factual Findings 74 and 75.) Those actions violate Business and Professions 
Code section 4301, and California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1714, 
subdivisions (b) and (d). Respondent Simon argued that Burgos acted surreptitiously, and 
thus, despite Respondent Simon's efforts to supervise and monitor pharmacy activity, 
Burgos acted without Respondent Simon's knowledge. The evidence did not prove Burgos 
acted with Respondent Simon's knowledge, but, as the Pharmacist-in-Charge, the 
responsibility for Burgos's actions falls to Respondent Simon as well as to Burgos. 

65. Cause exists to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist license, 
for unprofessional conduct, for failing to maintain adequate security of its drugs, pursuant 
to Business and Professions Code section 4301, and California Code of Regulations, title 

.16, section 1714, subdivisions (b) and (d), as set forth in Factual Findings 1, 2,4,5,27
30,38,74-76, and Legal Conclusions 1-7, 62-64,73,74. 

66. Cause exists to discipline Respondent TOT's pharmacy license, for 
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unprofessional conduct, for Respondent Simon's failure to maintain adequate security of 
its drugs, pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4301, and California Code 
of Regulations, title 16, section 1714, subdivisions (b) and (d), as set forth in Factual 
Findings 1,2,4,5,27-30,38,74-76, and Legal Conclusions 1-5, 7, 62-64, and 73-75,78. 

The Twelve Thousand Dollar Check 

67. Business and Professions Code section 4301 states in pertinent part: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 
unprofessional conduct .... Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 
to, any of the following: 

[1l] ... [,-r] 

(g) Knowingly making or signing any certificate or other document that 
falsely represents the existence or nonexistence of a state of facts. 

68. Complainant failed to prove that Respondent Simon knowingly made and 
signed the $12,256.49 check to herself under false pretenses. While it was undoubtedly 
odd for Respondent Simon to buy pharmacy equipment in excess of $12,000, with her 
own cash and not obtain receipts, the evidence did not establish that Respondent Simon 
stole the money or otherwise improperly paid herself with the approximately $12,000 
check. The co-owner did not allege theft or fraud to the authorities or to Respondent 
Simon directly. There was no law enforcement investigation. Moreover, once the co
owner was aware of the check at issue, he would have reasonably attempted to claim the 
full sum at some time in the ensuing six years. The co-owner testified at hearing that, 
upon seeing the MTC invoice, he was satisfied with Respondent Simon's explanation of 
the check. Had the check been a source of concern regarding theft or fraud, the co-owner 
would have taken steps to pursue the substantial amount of money; furthermore, he would 
have stated at hearing that the check raised such a concern. He did neither, and the 
absence of any action left sufficient doubt as to whether Respondent Simon made and 
signed the check under false pretenses. The fact that MTC was burglarized approximately 
one year before Respondent Simon's purchases (November 2000) did not establish that 
MTC was left with no pharmacy equipment to sell, since the theft report showed an almost 
exclusive list of medications stolen. It stands to reason that other medical supplies may 
have withstood the burglary of MTC and were available for sale after MTC discontinued as 
a business, in October 2001. (Factual Finding 78.) 

69. Cause does not exist to revoke or suspend Respondent Simon's pharmacist 
license, for unprofessional conduct, for making or signing a false document, pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code section 4301, subdivision (g), as set forth in Factual 
Findings 1,4,5,77,78, and Legal Conclusions 5,67, and 68. 31 

31 Respondent TOT was not charged in the Twelfth Cause for discipline listed in the Accusation. 
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Complainant's Costs 

70. Business and Professions Code section 125.3 states in pertinent part: 

(a) Except as otherwise provided by law, in any order issued in resolution 
of a disciplinary proceeding before any board within the department [of Consumer 
Affairs] ... upon request of the entity bringing the proceeding, the administrative 
law judge may direct a licentiate found to have committed a violation or violations of 
the licensing act to pay a sum not to exceed the reasonable costs of the 
investigation and enforcement of the case. 

(b) In the case of a disciplined licentiate that is a corporation or a 
partnership, the order may be made against the licensed corporate entity or 
licensed partnership. 

(c) A certified copy of the actual costs, or a good faith estimate of costs 
where actual costs are not available, signed by the entity bringing the proceeding or 
its designated representative shall be prima facie evidence of reasonable costs of 
investigation and prosecution of the case. 

71. The Board must exercise its discretion to reduce or eliminate cost awards in 
a manner that will ensure the award does not deter licensees with potentially meritorious 
claims or defenses from exercising their right to a hearing. (Zuckerman v. State Board of 
Chiropractic Examiners (2002) 29 Cal.App.4th 32, 45" "[T]he Board may not assess the 
full costs of investigation and prosecution when to do so will unfairly penalize a [Iicenesee] 
who has committed some misconduct, but who has used the hearing process to obtain 
dismissal of other charges or a reduction in the severity of the discipline imposed." (Id.) 
The Board in imposing costs in such situations must consider the licensee's subjective 
good faith belief in the merits of his or her position and the Board must consider whether 
or not the licensee has raised colorable claim. The Board must consider the licensee's 
ability to make payment. Finally, the Board "may not assess the full costs of investigation 
and prosecution when it has conducted a disproportionately large investigation and 
prosecution to prove that a [licensee] engaged in relatively innocuous conduct." (Id., 
footnote omitted.) The evidence established cause for disciplining Respondent Simon's 
pharmacist license in seven of 12 causes for discipline alleged in the Accusations. The 
evidence established cause for disciplining Respondent TOT's pharmacy permit in five out 
of 7 causes for discipline alleged in the Accusations. While it cannot be said that the 
charges that were n'ot sustained were not of concern to the Board, the charges that were 
sustained against both Respondents were extremely serious. In particular, the excessive 
furnishing of controlled substances, furnishing controlled substances without a prescription 
and failure to maintain accurate inventory and security of controlled substances are very 
serious charges that were sustained against Respondents. Respondent Simon did not 
proffer evidence of her ability or inability to pay the costs being sought. The Administrative 
Law Judge found that it was appropriate to award one-third of the full costs of investigation 
($11,505), and one third of the costs of prosecution and enforcement ($34,529). Pursuant 
to Business and Professions Code section 125.3(d), this finding is not reviewable by the 
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Board to increase the cost award. However, after remand, the Superior Court found that 
the Board failed to sustain its burden of proof in one of the eight violations of the 
Pharmacy Law found against Respondent Simon (see Legal Conclusions 54 and 55). In 
recognition of the Superior Court's finding, the Board hereby reduces cost recovery by 
$6,000. Complainant is entitled to a total of $40,034. Respondents are jointly and 
severally liable. (See Legal Conclusions 6,7.) 

72. Cause exists to award Complainant costs, pursuant to Business and 
Professions Code section 125.3, as set forth in Factual Findings 1-88, and the Legal 
Conclusions. 

Factors Considered for the Appropriate Measure of Discipline 

73. In order to determine the appropriate measure of discipline, it is 
necessary to weigh and balance Respondents' violations of law as well as factors in 
justification, aggravation, or mitigation. Protection of the public is the Board's highest 
priority. The Board fulfills its public mandate by, among other things, imposing discipline. 
It is very important that the Board's licensees are aware of and abide by the standards of 
pharmacy practice and applicable pharmacy laws. The seven causes for discipline proven 
demonstrate that Respondent Simon is either unaware of or refuses to abide by those 
standards and laws. Respondents provided shockingly large quantities of controlled 
substances and at doses and frequencies that fell below the standard of care. As the 
record establishes,these drugs were dispensed to these patients without regard for 
patient health and safety or public safety. In addition, Respondents could not demonstrate 
that during this time period the pharmacy: maintained adequate security of controlled 
substances, accounted for its drug inventory, furnished controlled SUbstances with valid 
prescriptions or authorizations, did not deviate from the requirements of a prescription, or 
removed expired drugs from its shelves. The wide-spread and serious nature of these 
violations indicates Respondents do not have systems in place to protect patients and 
dispense prescriptions in a safe and effective manner. 

74. Further, Respondent Simon's evasive and inconsistent responses regarding 
her statements and practices are of concern to the Board. Respondent Simon's 
admission that she had a practice of signing off on prescriptions for controlled substances 
that were filled by other pharmacists and sending that false information to the Drug 
Enforcement Administration is also of concern to the Board. The public is protected when 
pharmacists are knowledgeable about their responsibilities and discharge those duties in 
an honest manner. Respondent Simon's denial that her pharmacy practice in this case 
fell below the standard of care in the face of clear and convincing evidence to the contrary 
is also of concern to the Board. These denials, her lack of understanding of her 
responsibilities, and her lack of remorse demonstrate that Respondent Simon is not able 
to practice with safety to the public. In addition, Respondent's "after the fact" expressions 
of remorse are not sufficient to overcome the Board's concerns about her ability to 
practice safely. 
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75. The five causes for discipline proven against Respondent TOT prove that it 
has taken no responsibility for monitoring persons that manage the pharmacy and no 
responsibility for compliance with the laws governing pharmacies. The argument that 
Respondent Simon was responsible for the failures in this case does not absolve 
Respondent TOT of its own responsibility to ensure that its agents comply with applicable 
laws. As a result, public protection requires monitoring to ensure that TOT pharmacy pays 
close attention to the pharmacy's operations and practices in the future. However, the 
Board considered the fact that Respondent TOT cooperated in the investigation of these 
matters and has since disassociated itself from Respondent Simon, who is no longer an 
owner of the pharmacy. 

76. Complainant did not establish the factor alleged in aggravation in this case. 
In mitigation, Respondents had no previous record of discipline. 

77. For the reasons set forth in Legal Conclusion 75, the public will be protected 
by the imposition of stayed revocation and five years' probation with standard terms and 
conditions on Respondent TOT's pharmacy permit. Five years' probation is the minimum 
necessary for the Board to monitor Respondent TOT's conduct with respect to the issues 
in this case. The imposition of discipline will produce a positive effect for Respondent 
TOT and the public, in that discipline will encourage on-going assessment of pharmacy 
operations, places the public on notice that such conduct is significant, and serves the 
public by having a fully-informed, educated and rehabilitated licensee. The Board has 
determined that the terms and conditions of probation for Respondent TOT are sufficient 
to meet the goal of rehabilitation in this case. 

CONSIDERA TlONS AFTER REMAND 

78. Upon remand, the Board finds that the Superior Court did not disturb the 
findings and conclusions with respect to seven out of the eight violations charged by the 
Board against Respondent Simon. Accordingly, the most serious violations of Pharmacy 
Law were sustained by the Superior Court: filling prescriptions that were clearly excessive as 
beyond the recommended dose and dosing frequency and filling prescriptions that she knew 
or had reason to know were not for legitimate medical purposes. These acts, in addition to 
the other five violations of Pharmacy Law sustained against Respondent Simon, evince 
serious lapses in professional judgment and pharmacy management by Respondent Simon. 
Respondent Simon's expressions of remorse in her written arguments to the Board are not 
sufficient to overcome the Board's concerns about her ability to practice with safety to the 
public. Rehabilitation requires much more than convenient apologies. It involves a 
demonstration of a consistent track record of appropriate behavior over a sufficiently 
extended period of time. That way, the board and the public have some assurances that 
the person can practice with safety to the public. Respondent Simon has not 
demonstrated the self-awareness and "proven track record" of rehabilitation necessary for 
the Board to consider mitigating its originally proposed penalty. Until that time, discipline in 
the form of outright revocation is still necessary and appropriate to protect public safety. 
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79. For the reasons set forth in Legal Conclusions 73,74 and 78, the public will 
be protected by outright revocation of Respondent Simon's license. 

ORDERS 

Regarding Respondent Simon 

1. License number RPH 41523, issued to Respondent Carol Zalez-Simon is. 
REVOKED. 

2. Respondent Carol Zalez-Simon and Respondent TOT Pharmacy are 
ordered to pay the Board of Pharmacy $40,034. 

Regarding Respondent TOT 

3. The Superior Court did not disturb the findings with respect to TOT 
Pharmacy and TOT pharmacy did not appeal the Board's July 17,2008 decision. As a 
result, other than cost recovery, the Board did not disturb its July 17, 2008 findings and 
decision with respect to TOT pharmacy. The Boa'rd hereby confirms that Permit number 
PHY 45269, issued to Respondent TOT Pharmacy is REVOKED; however, the revocation 
is STAYED and Respondent TOT is placed on PROBATION for five years upon the 
following terms and conditions (where "Respondent TOT" is mentioned in this Order, any 
and all owners of TOT pharmacy, its successors and assignees, doing business as All 
Med Drugs, is intended to be included): 

(a) Obey All Laws 

Respondent TOT shall obey all state and federal laws and regulations 
substantially related to or governing the practice of pharmacy. 

Respondent TOT shall report any of the following occurrences to the Board, 
in writing, within 72 hours of such occurrence: 

1) an arrest or issuance of a criminal complaint for violation of any 
provision of the Pharmacy Law, state and federal food and drug laws, or 
state and federal controlled substances laws; 

2) a plea of guilty or nolo contendere in any state or federal criminal 
proceeding to any criminal complaint, information or indictment; 

3) a conviction of any crime; 

4) discipline, citation, or other administrative action filed by any state 
and federal agency which involves respondent TOT's pharmacy license or 
which is related to the practice of pharmacy or the manufacturing, obtaining, 
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handling or distribution or billing or charging for of any drug, device or 
controlled substance. 

(b) Reporting tothe Board 

Respondent TOT shall report to the Board quarterly. The report shall be 
made either in person or in writing, as directed. Respondent TOT shall state under 
penalty of perjury whether there has been compliance with all the terms and 
conditions of probation. If the final probation report is not made as directed, 
probation shall be extended automatically until such time as the final report is made . 
and accepted by the Board. 

(c) Interview with the Board 

Upon receipt of reasonable notice, Respondent TOT shall appear in person, 
for interviews with the Board, upon request at various intervals at a location to be 
determined by the Board. Failure to appear for a scheduled interview without prior 
notification to Board staff shall be considered a violation of probation . 

.. (d) Cooperation with Board Staff 

Respondent TOT shall cooperate with the Board's inspectional program and 
in the Board's monitoring and investigation of Respondent TOT's compliance with 
the terms and conditions of its probation. Failure to comply shall be considered a 
violation of probation. 

(e) Reimbursement of Board Costs 

In recognition of the Superior Court's order relating to Respondent Simon, 
Respondent TOT shall pay to the Board its C9StS of investigation and prosecution in 
the amount of $40,034. Respondent TOT shall make said payments as determined 
by the Board. Respondent TOT and Respondent Simon are jointly and severally 
liable. 

The filing of bankruptcy by Respondent TOT shall not relieve Respondent 
TOT of its responsibility to reimburse the Board its costs of investigation and 
prosecution. 

(f) Probation Monitoring Costs 

Respondent TOT shall pay the costs associated with probation monitoring 
as determined by the Board each and every year of probation. Such costs shall be 
payable to the Board at the end of each year of probation. Failure to pay such costs 
shaH be considered a violation of probation. 
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(g) Status of License 

Respondent TOT shall, at all times while on probation, maintain a current 
license with the Board. If Respondent TOT submits an application to the Board, and 
the application is approved, for a change of location, change of permit or change of 
ownership, the Board shall retain continuing jurisdiction over the license, and 
Respondent TOT shall remain on probation as determined by the Board. 

(h) License Surrender while on Probation 

Following the effective date of this decision, should Respondent TOT cease 
practice due to retirement or health of its owners, or be otherwise unable to satisfy 
the terms and conditions of probation, Respondent TOT may tender its license to 
the Board for surrender. The Board shall have the discretion whether to grant the 
request for surrender or take any other action it deems appropriate and reasonable. 
Upon formal acceptance of the surrender of the license, Respondent TOT will no 
longer be subject to the terms and conditions of probation. . 

Upon acceptance of the surrender, Respondent TOT shall relinquish its 
pocket license to the Board within 10 days of notification by the Board that the 
surrender is accepted. Respondent TOT may not reapply for any license from the 
Board for three years from the effective date of the surrender. Respondent TOT 
shall meet all requirements applicable to the license sought as of the date the 
application for that license is submitted to the Board. 

(i) Notice to Employees 

Respondent TOT shall, upon or before the effective date of this decision, 
ensure that all employees involved in permit operations are made aware of all the 
terms and conditions of probation, either by posting a notice of the terms and 
conditions, circulating such notice, or both. If the notice required by this provision is 
posted, it shall be posted in a prominent place and shall remain posted throughout 
the probation period. Respondent TOT shall ensure that any employees hired or 
used after the effective 'date of this decision are made aware of the terms and 
conditions by posting a notice, circulating a notice, or both. 

"Employees" as used in this provision includes all full-time, part-time, 
temporary and relief employees and independent contractors employed or hired at 
any time during probation. 

U) Owners and Officers: Knowledge of the Law 

Respondent TOT shall provide, within 30 days after the effective date of this 
decision, signed and dated statements from its owners, including any owner or 
holder of 10% or more of the interest in Respondent TOT or Respondent TOT's 
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stock, and any officer, stating said individuals have read and are familiar with state 
and federal laws and regulations governing the practice of pharmacy. 

(k) Violation of Probation 

If Respondent TOT violates probation in any respect, the Board, after giving 
Respondent TOT notice and an opportunity to be heard, may revoke probation and 
carry out the disciplinary order which was stayed. If a petition to revoke probation or 
an accusation is filed against Respondent TOT during probation, the Board shall 
have continuing jurisdiction and the period of probation shall be extended, until the 
petition to revoke probation or accusation is heard and decided. 

If Respondent TOT has not complied with any term or condition of probation, 
the Board shall have continuing jurisdiction over Respondent TOT, and probation 
shall automatically be extended until all terms and conditions have been satisfied or 
the Board has taken other action as deemed appropriate to treat the failure to 
comply as a violation of probation, to terminate probation, and to impose the 
penalty which was stayed. 

(I) Completion of Probation 

Upon successful completion of probation, Respondent TOT's license will be 
fully restored. In recognition of the fact that Respondent TOT has already served 
one (1) year on probation, this order clarifies that Respondent TOT will not be 
required to serve another five-year probationary period. Instead, TOT pharmacy 
will be credited with "time served" under the Board's July 17,2008 disciplinary 
.order. If all terms and conditions are met, Respondent TOT's probationary period 
shall end on August 18, 2013. 

This Decision shall become effective on December 9,2009. 

IT IS SO ORDERED this 9th day of November, 2009. 

Kenneth H. Schell 
President, Board of Pharmacy 
Department of Consumer Affairs 
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John A. Clarke, EMecutive Officer/Clerk 
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CAROL MARIE ZALEZ-SIMON, 

Petitioner? 

v. 

CALIFORNIA BOARD OF P~ARMACY, 

Respondent. 

·Case No. BS 116965· 

ff,iItOF 6SEb] .roPG:MENT GRANTING 
PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE IN 
PART' . 

[Code of Civil Procedure §664.5, subd. 9a)] 

Judge: . Hon. James C. Chalfant. 
Action Filed: November 7,2008 
Dept.: "8511 

Trial Date: June 1, 2009 

'. I', 

This ~atter came before this Court on June 1,2009 in pepartrnent 85 for trial. the Honorable 

'J~es C.-Chalfant, Judge,:presiding, sittiilg witb,6tit ajiJry': 

'Victor Sherman, Esq. appeared as attonley for Petitioner Carol Marie Zalez-Simon. Attorney' 
',' 

General Edmund G. Brown, Jr. by Michel W. Valentine, Deputy Attol1.ley General, ,~ppeared as
. . , , ' 

attorneys on behalf ofthe Respondent California Bo~d ofPharmacy. 

T~eCourt finding that Petitioner and Respondent w~re dUly served with the petition and notice 

o.fhearing in tms matter; the entire record cif acl.miDistrative proceedings having been received into 

evidence and reviewed by the Court with no other evidence having been admi:tted into evidence by , 

the C~urt; the matter having been argued; and the court having issued 'its written' "RUling on 
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1 .submi~ed Matter" . (statement" of decision) in this matter on June 11, 2009, a copy of which is 

.attached hereto; 
. . 

IT IS ORD~RED, DECREED AND ADJUDGED that: 

1. The petition filed in this pr9ceeding for a writ of mandate is granted in part, solely 

on the is.sue.of a:ppropriate discipline with.the remov~ of Cause Nine regarding gross negligeD,ce. . 

. 2. The court orde~s that the matter be remanded. to the' California B,?ard ofPharmacy 
. ., . 

for its exercise of.its discretion on the penalty without cause nine as a ground for discipline. 

3.' In all other respects, the writ,is deni~d, 

DATED: 


James.c, Chalfant 
Honorable Ju~ge of the Los Angeles Superior Court 



HI IY ~cNcKHL Urrl~c 
r.~c. 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

)ATE: 06/11/09 

~10NORABLB JAMES C. CHALFANT JUDGE 

HONORABLE JUDGE PRO TEM 

J. DE LUNA, C.A. Deputy Sheriff 

DEPT. 85 

A. FAJARDO DEPUTY CLERK 

ELECTRONIC RECORDING MONITOR 

NONE Reponcr 

9:51 am BS116965 

CAROL MARIE ZALEZ-SIMON 

VS 
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF PHARMACY 

Plaimiff 
Counsel 

Defendanl 

Counsel 

NO APPEARANCES 

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS: 

RULING ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE 

The Court having taken the above stated matter on 
6/1/09/ now issue~ its "Decision on Petition for Writ 
of Mandate", consisting of seventeen (17) pages which 
is signed and filed this date. 

The Petition for Writ of Mandate is granted only in 
part. 

An ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE RE: JUDGMENT is set on 
JULY 7, 2009 at 9:30a.m. in this department. 

Counsel for the Respondent is to prepare a proposed 
Judgment and Writ and serve them on opposing Counsel 
to approve as to form. After ten(lO) days, Counsel 
is to submit the proposed Judgment and Writ to the 
court along with a Declaration stating the nature 
and extent of any objections received. 

The Administrative Record and Joint Appendix are 
ordered returned to Counsel for the Complainant to 
be retained in the same manner pending any further 
proceedings in this matter. 

CLERK 1 8 CERTIFICATE OF MAILING/ 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

Page 1 of 2 DEPT. 85 
MINUTES ENTERED 
06/11/09 
COUNTY CLERK 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

ATE: 06/11/09 

iONORABLE JAMES C. CHALFANT JUDGE 

IONORABl..E JUDGE PRO TEM 

J. DE LUNA, C .A. Deputy Sheriff 

DEPT. 85 

A. FAJARDO DEPUTY CLERK 

ELECTRONIC RECORDING MONITOR 

NONE Reporter 

9:51 am BS116965 Plaintiff 

Counsel 
CAROL MARIE ZALEZ-SIMON NO· APPEARANCES 

Defendant 

, VS Counsel 
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF PBARMACY 

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS: 

I, the below named Executive Officer/Clerk of the 
above-entitled court, do hereby certify that I am not 
a party to the cause herein, and that this date I 
served Notice of Entry of the above minute order of 
6/11/09 upon each party or counsel named below by 
depositing in the United States mail at the courthouse 
in Los Angeles, California, one copy of the 
original entered here~n in a separate sealed envelope 
for each, addressed as shown below with the postage 
thereon fully prepaid. 

Date: 6/11/09 

John A. Clarke, Executive Officer/Clerk 

By: 

VICTOR SHERMAN 
Victor Sherman & Janet Sherman 
2115 Main Street 
Santa Monica, Ca 90405 

MICHEL W. VALENTINE 
Deputy Attorney General IV 
300 S. Spring St., Ste 1702 
Los Angeles, Ca 90013 

Page 2 of 2 DEPT. 85 
MINUTES ENTERED 
06/11/09 
COUNTY CLERK 

http:LJCI'lCr<:.HL


1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

 

III 

28

BILL LOCKYER, Attorney General 
of the State of California 

GLORIA A. BARRIOS, 
Supervising Deputy Attorney General 

MICHEL W. VALENTINE, State Bar No. 153078 
Deputy Attorney General 

California Department of Justice 
300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702 
Los Angeles, CA 90013 
Telephone: (213) 897-1034 
Facsimile: (213) 897-2804 

Attorneys for Complainant 

BEFORE THE BEFORE THE 

BOARD OF PHARMACY 


DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 


In the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

TOT PHARMACY, INC. 
dba ALL MED DRUGS 
442 N. Moorpark Road 
Thousand Oaks, California 91360 
CAROL ZALEZ-SIMON, Pharmacist-in-Charge 
(From 7/27/01 to 6/30/03) 

Case No. 2683 

OAH No. L-2003120195 

FIRST AMENDED AND 
SUPPLEMENTAL ACCUSATION 

Complainant alleges: 

PARTIES 

Virginia K. Herold, (Complainant) brings this First Amended and Supplemental 

Accusation solely in her official capacity as the Acting Executive Officer of the Board of 

Pharmacy, Department of Consumer Affairs and supplements the Accusation filed on 
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October 21, 2003 and the First Supplemental Accusation filed on August 2,2006, in this matter, 

and for cause for discipline further alleges: 

52. Paragraphs two (2) through fifty one (51), inclusive, are incorporated 

herein by reference, as if fully set forth. 

53. Section 4301 states: 

"The board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 

unprofessional conduct or whose license has been procured by fraud or misrepresentation or 

issued by mistake. Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited to, any of 

the following: 

(g) Knowingly making or signing any certificate or other document that falsely 

represents the existence or nonexistence of a state of facts." . 

54. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1714, states: 

"(b) Each pharmacy licensed by the board shall maintain its facilities, space, 

fixtures, and equipment so that drugs are safely and properly prepared, maintained; secured and 

distributed. The pharmacy shall be of sufficient size and unobstructed area to accommodate the 

safe practice of pharmacy. 

"(d) Each pharmacist while on duty shall be responsible for the security of the 

prescription department, includinE' provisions for effective control against theft or diversion of 

dangerous drugs and devices, and records for such drugs and devices. Possession of a key to the 

pharmacy where dangerous drugs and controlled substances are stored shall be restricted to a 

pharmacist." 

55. CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES 

A. "Vicodin ES 7.5mg.l750mg.," is the brand name for Hydrocodone with 

Acetaminophen. It is a Schedule III controlled substance as designated by Health and Safety 

III 
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Code section 11056, subdivision (e)(4) and is categorized as a "dangerous drug" pursuant to 

Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

B. "Vicodin BP 1 Omg.l660mg.," is the brand name for Hydrocodone with 

Acetaminophen. It is a Schedule III controlled substance as designated by Health and Safety 

Code section 11056, subdivision (e)( 4) and is categorized as a "da.ngerous drug" pursuant to 

Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

C. "Valium," is the brand name for Diazepam. It is a Schedule N controlled 

substance as designated by Health and Safety Code section 11057, subdivision (d)(9) and is 

categorized as a "dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

56. DANGEROUS DRUGS 

A. "Lasix" is the brand name for Furosemide and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

B. "Zestril," is the brand name for Lisinopril and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

C . "Naprosyn," is the brand name for Naproxen and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022 .. 

D. "Glucotrol," is the brand name for Metfonnin and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

ELEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Failure to Maintain Adequate Security of Controlled Substances and Dangerous Drugs) 

57. Respondents Pharmacy and Zalez-Simon are subject to disciplinary action 

under sections 4300 and 4301, on the grounds ofunprofessional conduct, for violating California 

Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1714; subdivisions (b) and Cd), in that Respondents failed 

to maintain adequate security of controlled substances and dangerous drugs, by allowing staff to 

process their own prescriptions and prescriptions for family members, which resulted in the 

dispensing ofprescriptions and prescription refills unauthorized by the prescriber, with changes 

in quantities, increase in the number of refills, and changes in directions, without obtaining a new 
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prescription. More Specifically, Respondents allowed Pharmacy Technician, C.B. to process 

unauthorized prescriptions for her family members, including but not limited to: 

a. Prescription no. 844083 for #60 tablets ofNaproxen 250mg. was dispensed 

on January 2,2003 and refilled on April 8,2003 for #100 tablets ofNaproxen 250mg., which was 

not authorized by Dr. Scarborough for C.M., the aunt ofC.B. 

b. Prescription no. 844333 for #30 tablets of Lisinopril1 Omg. was dispensed 

on January 6,2003 and refilled on February 3, 2003 for #30 tablets, March 7,2003 for #30 tablets, 

and April 3,2003 for #100 tablets, which was not authorized by Dr. Baghoumian for patient C.M., 

the aunt ofC.B. 

. c. Prescription no. 852471 for #100 tablets ofMetform in 500mg. was 

dispensed on April 29, 2003 and refilled on June 21, 2003,.which was not authorized by Dr. 

Baghoumian for patient C.M., the aunt of C.B. 

d. Prescription no. 844506 for #30 tablets of Lasix 20mg., with 4 refills, a 

possible total of 150 tablets was dispensed on January 8, 2003 for #60 tablets, refilled on April 3, . 

2003, July 23,2003, and October 17, 2003, each for #100 tablets. A total of 360 tablets were 

dispensed ofwhich210 were not !i.uthorized by Dr. Wong for patient C.:rvL, tlle aunt ofC.B. 

e. Prescription no. 850914 for #30 tablets ofLisinopnl1mg., with 5 refills, a 

possible total of#180 tablets was dispensed on July 14,2003 for #100 tablets, refilled on 

September 24,2003, and January 12, 2004, each for #100 tablets. A total of#300 tablets were 

dispensed of which 120 tablets were not authorized by Dr. Wong for C.M., the aunt of C.B. 

f. Prescription no. 855939 for #60 tablets of Metformin 500mg., with 4 

refills, a possible total of#300 tablets was dispensed on July 23,2003 for #100 tablets and refilled 

on September 24,2003, November 11,2003, and January 12,2004, each for #100 tablets. A total 

of#400 tablets were dispensed of which #100 tablets were not authorized by Dr. Wong for patient 

C.M., the aunt of C.B. 

g. Prescription no. 872252 for #60 tablets of Metform in 500mg., with 5 

refills, a possible total of#360 tab:.ets was dispensed on February 16,2004 for #120 tablets, 

III 
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refilled on May 5, 2004, July 8, 2004, and September 8, 2004. A total of#480 tablets were 

dispensed of which #120 tablets were not authorized by Dr. Wong for patient C.M., the aunt of 

C.B. 

h. Prescription no. 846718 for Vicodin HP was dispensed on February 21, 

2003 for #40 tablets, then refilled on March 12,2003 for #40 tablets, March 26, 2003 for #40 

tablets, June 26, 2003 for #100 tablets, and July 22, 2003 for #100 tablets. Prescription 846718 

was renewed as Prescription no. 859159 on July 22, 2003 for two (2) refills. Prescription 846718 

was dispensed on August 13,2003 for #100 tablets, then refilled on September 11, 2003 for #100 

tablets, October 9, 2003 for #100 tablets, October 29,2003 for #1 00 tablets, and December 3, 

2003 for #100 tablets. Prescription 859159 was renewed as Prescription 868000 for one (1) refill. 

Prescription 868000 was dispensed on December 19, 2003 for #100 tablets, then refilled on 

January 20,2004 for #100 tablets, February 4,2004 for #100 tablets, April 8, 2004 for #100 

tablets, and April 28, 2004 for #100 tablets. 

1. Prescription no. 845198 was written as a telephone order for #60 tablets of 

Vico din ES with directions to take 1 tablet, twice daily, as needed for pain. The prescription was 

dispensed on January 16,2003, refilled on February 4,2003, renewed 011 February 20; 2003,-and 

processed as prescription no. 847738 for #360 tablets, with one refill on March 7,2003. There 

was a change of directions to take 2 tablets every 4 to 6 hours, as needed for pain, without a verbal 

order taken by a pharmacist or written order by Dr. Darakjian for R.C., the stepfather of C.B. 

TWELFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Knowingly Made or Signed A False Certificate or Other Document) 

58. Respondent Zalez-Simon is subject to disciplinary action under section 

4300 and 4301, subdivision (g), on the grounds ofunprofessional conduct, in that on or about 

November 20,2001, Respondent knowingly wrote a check to herself for $12,256.49, to pay for a 

false invoice, dated November 10, 2001, for the purchase of medical supplies from MTC 

Pharmacy, when MTC Pharmacy was no longer conducting business, effective March 2001. 

http:12,256.49
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.i. c: 1(21/06) 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein 

alleged, and that following the hearing, the Board of Pharmacy issue a decision: 

1. Revoking or suspending Original Pharmacy Permit No. PEY 45259, issued 

to Tot Phannacy, doing business as, All Med Drugs; 

2. Revoking or suspending Original Pharmacist No. RPH 41523, issued to 


Caro] Marie Zalez-Simon; 


3. Ordering Tot Phannacyand Carol Marie Zalez-Simon to Pi:lY the Phannacy 

IBoard the reasonable costs of the investigation and enforcement of this case,pursuant to Business 

and Professions Code section 125.3; 

4. h Tak'mg such other and further action as deemed 

 

 

 

 

n 


DATED: /(1 . '2-/0&

• ~ I ..

GDJ HEROLD 
Acting Executive Officer 
Board or Pharmacy 
Department of Consumer Affairs 
State of California 
Complainant 
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BILL.LOCKYER, Atto.mey General 
of the State of California 

MICHEL W. VALENTINE, State Bar No. 153078 
Deputy Attorney General 

California Department ofJustice 
300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702 
Los Angeles> CA 90013 
Telephone: (213) 897-1034 
Facsimile: (213) 897-2804 

Attorneys for Complainant 

BEFORE THE BEFORE THE 

BOARD OF PHARMACY 


DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 


In the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

TOT PHARMACY, INC. 
dba ALL MED DRUGS 
442 N. Moorpark Road 
Thousand Oaks> California 91360 
CAROL ZALEZ-SIMON, Pharmacist-in-Charge 
(From 7127/01 to 6/30/03) 
JOHN LEE, Pharmacist-in-Charge 
(From 7/14/03) 

Pharmacy Permit No. PRY 45269 

and 

CAROL MARIE ZALEZ-SIMON 
16161 Ventura Blvd., Suite 487 
Encino, California 91436 

Phannacist No. RPR 41523 

Respondents. 

Complainant alleges: 

Case No. 2683 

OAR No. L-2003120195 

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL 
ACCUSATION 

PPU{TIEB 

Virginia K Herold (Complainant) brings this First Supplemental Accusation 

solely in her official capacjty as the Interim E~ecutive Officer of the Board ofPhannacy, 

Department of Consumer Affairs and supplements the accusation filed on October 21, 2003, in 

this matter, and for cause for discip1ine further alleges: 



5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

6 

7 

8 

9 

11 

12 

13 

14 

16 

1.7 

18 

19 

21 

22 

23 

24 

26 

27 

28 

III 

//1 

2 


SEP-08-2005 11: Idl:::l 

52. Paragraphs wo (2) through fifty one (51), inclusive, are incorporated 

herein by reference, as if fully set forth. 

53. California Code ofRegulations, title 16, section 1714, states: 

lOeb) Each pharmacy licensed by the board shall maintain its facilities, space, 

fixtures, and equipment so that drugs arc safely and properly prepared, maintained, secured and 

distributed. The pharmacy shall be of: sufficient size and unobstnlcted area to accommodate the 

safe practice ofphannacy. 

It{d) Each pharmacist while on duty shall be responsible for the security of the 

prescription department, including provisions for effective control against theft or diversion of 

dangerous drugs and devices, and records for such drugs and devices. Possession of a key to the 

pharmacy where dangerous drugs and controlled substances are stored shall be restricted to a 

pharmacist." 

54. CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES 

A. "Vicodin ES 7.5mgJ75Omg.," is the brand name for Hydrocodone with 

Acetaminophen. It is a ScheduleITI controlled substance as designated by HeaJth i:Uld Safety 

Code section 11056, subdivision. (e)(4) and is categorized as a "dangerous drug" pursnant to 

B'1.lsiness and Professions Code section 4022. 

B. "Vicodin HP 10mg.l660mg,," is the brand name for Hydrocodone with 

Acetamin.ophen. It is a Schedule III controlled substance as designated by Health and Safety 

Code section 11056, subdivision (e)(4) and is categorized as a "dangerous drug" pursuant to 

Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

c. ''Valium,'' is the brand name for Diazepam. It is a Schedule N controlled 

substance as designated by Health and Safety Code section 11057, subdivision (d)(9) and is 

categorized as a "dangerous drug" pursuant to B1.1Siness and Professions Code section 4022. 
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55. DANGERQUS DRUGS 

A. "Lasix" is the brand n.ame for Furosemide and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

B. "Zestrll," is the brand name for Lisinopril and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

C. "Naprosyn," is the brand name for Naproxen and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

D. 11 Glucotrol, " is the brand name for Metformin and is categorized as a 

"dangerous drug" pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4022. 

ELEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 


(Failure to Maintain Adequate Security of Controlled Substances and Dangerous Drugs) 


56. Respondents Pharmacy and Zalez-Simon are subject to disciplinary action 

under sections 4300 and 4301, on the grounds bfunprofessional conduct, for violating California 

Code of Regulations, title 16, section1714~ subdivisions (b) and (d) in that Respondents failed 

to maintain adequate security of controlled substances and dangerous drugs, by allowing staff to 

process their own prescriptions and prescriptions for family members, which resulted in the 

dispensing of prescriptions and prescription refills unauthorized by the prescriber, with changc:s 

in quantities, increase in the number of refills, and changes in directions, without obtaining a new 

prescription. More Specifically, Respondents allowed Phannacy Technician, c.B. to process 

unauthorized prescriptions for her family members, including but not limited to: 

a. Prescription no. 844083 for #60 tablets ofNaproxen 250mg. was dispensed 

on January 2,2003 and refilled on April 8) 2003 for #100 tablets ofNaproxen 250mg., which was 

not authorized by Dr. Scarborough for C.M., the aunt of C.B. 

b. Prescription no. 844333 for #30 tablets ofLisinopril 10mg. was dispensed 

on January 6, 2003 and refilled on February 3, 2003 for #30 tablets, March 7, 2003 for #30 tablets, 

and April 3, 2003 for #1 00 tablets, which was not authorized by Dr. Baghoumian for patient C.M., 

the a.unt of C.B. 
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c. Prescription no. 852471 for #100 tablets ofMetfannin 500mg. was 

dispensed on Apri129; 2003 and refilled on June 21, 2003,.which was not authorized by Dr. 

Baghoumian for patient C.M., the aunt ofC.B. 

d. Prescription no. 844506 for #30 tablets of Lasix 20rog., with 4 refills, a 

possible total of 150 tablets was dispensed on January 8, 2003 for #60 tablets, refilled on April. 3, 

2003, July 23, 2003, and October 17, 2003, each for #100 tablets. A total of360 tablets were 

dispensed of which 210were not authorized by Dr. Wong for patient C.M., the aunt ofC.B. 

e. Prescription no. 850914 for #30 tablets of Lisinapril Img., with 5 refills, a 

possible total of#180 tablets was dispensed on July 14, 2003 for #100 tablets, refilled 011 

September 24,2003, and January 12, 2004, each for #100 tablets. A total of#300 tablets were 

dispensed ofwhich 120 tablets were not authorized by Dr. Wong for C.M., the aunt ofC.B. 

f. Prescription rio. 855939 for #60 tablets ofMetform in 500mg., with 4 

refills, a possible total of#300 tablets was dispensed on July 23, 2003 for #100 tablets and refilled 

on September 24,2003, November 11, 2003, and January 12, 2004, each for #100tablets. A total 

of#400 tablets were dispensed of which #100 tablets were not authorized by Dr. Wong for patient 

C.M., the aunt of C.B. 

cr o· Prescription no. 872252 for #60 tabletsofMctforrnin 500mg.,with_5 

refills, a possible total of#360 tablets was dispensed on February 16, 2004 for #120 tablets, 

refilled on May 5,2004, July 8, 2004, and September 8.2004. A total of#480 tablets were 

dispensed ofwhich #120 tablets were not authorized by Dr. Wong for patient C.M., the aunt of 

C.B. 

h. Prescription no. 846718 for Vicodjn HP was dispensed on February 21, 

2003 for #40 tablets, then refilled on March 12, 2003 for #40 tablets, March 26, 2003 for #40 

tablets, June 26,2003 for #100 tablets, and July 22,2003 for #100 tablets. Prescription 846718 

was renewed as Prescription 110. 859159 on July 22. 2003 for two (2) refills. Prescription 846718 

was dispensed on August 13, 2003 for #100 tablets, then refilled on September 11, 2003 for #1 00 

tablets, October 9,2003 for #100 tablets, October 29,2003 for #100 tablets, and December 3, 

2003 for #100 tablets. Prescription 859159 was renewed as Prescription 868000 for one (1) refill. 
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Prescription 868000 was dispen.sed on December 19, 2003 for #100 tablets, then refilled on 

January 20, 2004 for #100 tablets, Febmary 4, 2004 for #100 tablets, April 8, 2004 for #100 

tablets, and April 28, 2004 for #100 tablets. 

1. Prescription no. 845198 was written as a telephone order fOT #60 tablets of 

Vicodin ES with directions to take 1 tablet, twice daily, as needed fOT pain. The prescription was 

dispensed on January 16,2003, refilled on February 4,2003, renewed on February 20, 2003, and 

processed as prescription no. 847738 for #360 tablets, with one refill on March 7, 2003. There 

was a change of directions to take 2 tablets every 4 to 6 hours, as needed for pain, without a verbal 

order taken by a pharmacist or written order by Or. Darakjian for R.C., the stepfather of C.B. 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein 

alleged, and that following the hearing, the Board ofPhannacy issue a decision: 

Revoking or suspending Original Pharmacy Pennit No. PHY 45259, issued 

to Tot Phatmacy, dOing business as, All Med Drugs; 

2. Revoking or suspending Original Phannacist No. RPH 41523, issued to 

Carol Marie Zalez-Simon; 

3. Ordering Tot Pharmacy and Carol Marie Zalez-Simon to pay the Pharmacy 

Board the reasonable costs of the juvestigation and enforcement of this case, pursuant to Business 

and Professions Code section 125.3; 

4. Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper. 

~/2./0'. .. 

~<ttl. ~ /J I9-c. {i.,,
VIRGINIA K. HEROLD 
Interim. Executive Officer 
Board ofPhannacy 
Department of Consumer Affairs 
State of California 
Complainant 
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BILL LOCKYER, Attorney General 
of the State of Califomia 

MICHEL W. VALENTINE, State BarNo. 153078 
Deputy Attorney General 

Califomia Department of Justice 
300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702 
Los Angeles, CA 90013 
Telephone: (213) 897-1034 
Facsimile: (213) 897-2804 

Attom.eys for Complainant 

BEFORE THE 

BOARD OF PHARMACY 


DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 


In the Matter of the Accusation Against 

TOT PHARMACY 
dba ALL MED DRUGS 
442 N. Moorpark Road 
Thousand Oaks, California 91360 
CAROL ZALEZ-SIMON 

Pharmacist -in-Charge 
Pharmacy Peml1t No. PRY 45269 

and 

CAROL MARJE ZALEZ-SIMON 
16161. Ventura Blvd., Suite 487 
Encino, California 91436 

Pharmacist No. RPH 41523 

Respondents. 

Case No. 2683 

ACCUSATION 

Complainant alleges: 


PARTIES 


1. Patricia F. Hru.1.is (Complainant) brings this Accusation solely in her 

official capacity as the Executive Officer of the Board ofPhanl1acy, Department of Consllmer 

Affairs. 

2. On or about July 27,2001, the Board of Pharmacy issued Original 

Phannacy J'errnit No. PHY 45269 to Tot Pharmac.y, dba All Med Drugs (Respondent 

http:Hru.1.is
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Pharmacy). From July 27,2001 through June 30, 2003, Carol Marie Za1ez-Simon was the 

Pharmacist-in-Charge. Since July 14, 2003, .Tohn Lee, RPH 41523, has been the 

Pharmacist-in-Charge, The Permit was in full force and effect at all tim.es relevant to the charges 

brought herein and will expire on July 1, 2004, unless rene'wed. 

3. On or about April 23, 1988, the Board ofPhannacy issued Pharmacist 

Number RPH 41523 to Carol Marie Zalez~Simon (Respondent Zalez-Simon). The pennit was in 

fu1l force and effect at all times relevant to the charges brought herein and will expire on May 31, 

2005, unless renewed. 

JURISDICTION 

4. This Accusation is brought before the Board ofPhanJlacy (Board), 

Department of Consumer Affairs, under the authority oftIle following laws. All section 

references are to the Business and Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 

5. Section 4300 pennits the Board to take disciplinary action to suspend or 

revoke a license or pennit. 

6. Section ll8(b) states the suspension, expiration, or forfeiture by operation 

of law of a license issued by a Board in the department, or its suspension, forfeiture, or 

ca11cellation by order of the Board or by order of a court oflaw, or its surrender without the 

written consent of the Board, shall not, during any period in which it may be renewed, restored, 

reissued (Section 4096), or reinstated, deprive the Board of its authority to institute or continue a 

disciplinary proceeding agajnst the lieen.see. 

7. Section 4301 states that the Board shall take action against any holder of a 

license who is guilty of unprofessional conduct or whose license .has been procured by fraud or 

111i srepresentation or issued by mistake. Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited 

to, any ofthe following: 

"(b) Incompetence. 


"(c) Gross negligence. 


"Cd) The clearly excessive fumi.shlng of controlled substances in violation of 


subdivision (a) of Section 11153 of the Health and Safety Code. 
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"(e) The clearly excessive furnishing ofcontrolled substances in violation of 

subdivision (a) of Section 1. 1153.5 of the Health and Safety Code. Factors to be considered in 

determining whether the fLlrnishing ofcontrolled substances is clearly excessive shal1 include, 

but not be limited to, the amount ofcontrolled substances furnished, the previous ordering 

pattern of the customer (including size and frequency of orders), the type and size of the 

customer, and where and to whom the customer distributes its product. 

nCf) The commission of any act involving moral tu:rpitude, dishonesty, fraud, 

deceit, or con~uption, whether the act is committed in the course ofrelatjons as a licensee or 

otherwise, a11d whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor Or not. 

nCD The violation of any of the statutes ofthis state or of the United States 

regulating controlled substances and dangerous dfl.lgs. 

"(0) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting in or 

abetting the vio lation of or conspiring to violate any provision or term of this chapter or of the 

applicable federal and state laws and regulations governing phrum.acy, including regulat.ions 

established by the board .. 

8.. Section 4022 defines "Dangerous Dnlgs" as any drug that is unsafe for 

self-medication and which by federal or state law can be lawfully dispensed only on prescription. 

9. Section 4059(a) states, in pertinent part, th.at no person shall fumish any 

dangerous drug, except on the prescription of a physician. 

10. Section 4063 provides that no prescriptiou for any dangerous drug or 

dangerous device may be refilled except on authorization oftheprescriber. The authorization 

may be given orally or at the time of giving the ori.ginal prescription. No prescription for any 

dangerous drug that is a controlled substance may be designated refillable as needed. 

11.. Section 4081 (a) states, in pertinent part, that records of manufacture and of 

sale, acquisition, or di.sposition of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices shall be at all times 

dluing bLlsiness hours open to inspection by authorized officers of the law, and shall be preserved 

for at least three years :B."om the date of making. A cu:rrent inventory shall be kept by every 

11/ 
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pharmacy, or establishment holding a currently val:id and unrevoked certificate, licen.se, permit, 

regi.stration who maintains a stock of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices. 

12. Section 4081 (b) states, in pertinent part, that the owner, officer, and 

partner of any phannacy shall be jointly responsible, with the pharmacist-in-charge or exemptee, 

for maintaining the records and inventory described in this section. 

13. Section 4113(b) states that the phannacist-in-charge shall be responsible 

for a pharmacy's compliance with a11 state and federal laws and regulations pertaining to the 

practice ofphannacy. 

14. Section 4342(a) states, in pertinent part, that the Board may institute any 

action or actions as may be provided by law and that, in its discretion, are necessary, to prevent 

the sale of phannaceutical preparations an,d drugs that do not confonn to the standard and tests as 

to quality and stre11gth, provided in the latest edition ofth.e United States Pharmacopoeia or the 

National Formulary, 

15. Health and Safety Code section 11153 (a), states in part that a prescription 

for a controlled substance shall on1y be issued for a legitimate medical purpose by an individual 

practitioner acting in the usual course ofhis or hm professional practice: The responsibility for 

the proper presclibing and dispensing of controlled substances is upon the 'prescribing 

pnlctitioner, but a corresponding responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the 

prescription. 

16. Health and Safety Code section 11165(a), states, 1TI pertinent part, that to 

assist law enforcement and regulatory agencies in their efforts tocontro! the diversjon and 

resnJtant abuse of Schedule II controlled substances, and for statistical analysis, education, and 

research, the Department of Justjce shall, contingent upon the availabjlity of adequate funds from 

the Contingent Fund of the Medical Board of Califomia, the Pllannacy Board Contingent Fund, 

tl1e State Dentistry Fund, and th.e Osteopathic Medical Board of California Contingent Fund, 

establish the Controlled Sllbstance Utilization Review and Eva1uation System (CURES) for the 

electronic monitoring of111e prescribing and dispensing of Schedule II controlled substances by 

all practitioners authorized to pre;;cribe OT dispense these controned substances. 

http:licen.se
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17. Health & Safety Code section 11208 provides, in pertinent part, that an 

individual received or has had in his possessio.n at any tim.e a greater amount of controlled 

substances than is accounted for by an.y record required by law or that the amount of controlled 

substances possessed by the individual is a lesser amount than is accounted for by law is prima 

facie evidence of guilt 

18. CaljfOffiia Code ofRegulations, title 16, section 1707.3, states a 

pharmacist shall review a patient's drug therapy and medication record before each prescription 

drug is delivered, The review shall include screening for severe potential drug therapy problems. 

19. California Code ofReglJlations, title 16, section 171S.S(a) states; in 

pertinent p~1.l1, that each prescription for a Schedule II controlled substance, the dispensing 

pharmacy shall provide the following infonnation: the full nanle and address of the patient; the 

gender and date of birth of the patient; the DEA (Drug Enforcement Administration) number of 

the prescriber; the triplicate prescription number; the pharmacy p:rescriptiOll number; the 

pharmacy license number; the NDC (National Drug Code) num.ber and the quantity ofthe 

controlled $Llbstance; the ICD-9 (diagnosis code), if available; the date of issue of the 

prescription, the date ofdispensing of the prescription, and the state medical1icense number of 

any prescriber using the DBA number of a government exempt facility. 

20. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1716 states, in pertinent 

part, that Phannacists shall not deviate from the requirements of a prescription except upon the 

prior consent of the prescriber or to select the drug product in accordance with section 4047.6. 

21. Cahfomia Code ofRegulations, title 16, section 1716.2(a) states~ in 

pertinent part, th.at for the purpose of compounding in quantities larger than required for 

immediate dispensing by a prescriber or for futUre dispensing upon prescription, a pharmacy 

shall maintain records that include, but are not limited to: 

(3) The expiration date of the finished product. This date must not exceed 180 

days or the shortest expjration date of any component in the finished product unless a longer date 

is supported by stability studies in the same type of packaging as fum1shed to the prescriber. 
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Shorter dating than set forth in thissubsectiol1 may be used ifit is deemed appropriate ill the 

professional judgment of the :responsible pharmacist. 

22. California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 1718, states "Current 

Inventory" shall be considered to include complete accountability for all dangerous drugs 

handled by every licensee. 

23. Section 125.3 states,in pertinent part, that the Board may request the 

administrative law judge to direct a licentiate found to have committed a violation or violations 

of the licensing act to pay a sum not to exceed the reasonable costs of the investigation and 

enforcement of the case. 

CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES 

24. . Actiq (generic - Fentanyl) which is a. dangerous drug as defined in section 

4022 and a Schedule n controlled substance under Health and Safety Code section 11055(c)(8). 

It 1.S used in the treatment ofbreak-throllgh cancer pain in patients with malignancies. 

25. Dilaudid (generic - Hydromorphone) which is a dan.gerous drug as defined in 

section 4022 and a Schedule II cOl1trolled substance under Health and Safety Code section 

11055(b)(1)(K). It is used-in the treatment of moderate to severe pain. 

26. Lortab (generic - Hydrocodone 7.5 with acetaminopb,en 

[APAP] 500 mg) which js a dangel"ous dl1.lg as defined by section 4022 and a controlled 

substance Schedule III as listed in Health and Safety Code Section 1.1.056(e)(3). It is a narcotic 

analgesic combination. 

27. Methadone (generic - Methadone) which is a dangerons drug as defined in 

section 4022 and a Schedule II controlled substance under Healtl} and Safety Code section 

11055(c)(14). It is used in the treatment of severe pain a11d detoxification. 

28. OxyContin (generic - Oxycodone) whi.ch is a dangerous drug as defined in 

section 4022 and a Schedule II controlled substance under Health and Safety Code section 

11055(b)(1)(N). It is used in the treatment of moderate to severe pain. 

/// 

III 
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29 - Roxicodone (generic - Oxycodone) which is a dangerous drug as defmed 

jn section 4022 and a Schedule II controlled substance nnder Health and Safety Code section 

11055(b)(l)(N)- It is used in the treatment ofmoderate to severe pain_ 

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Excessive Furnishing of Controlled Substances) 

30. Respondents Pharmacy and Zalez-Simon have subjected theh licenses to 

discipline pursuant to section 4301 for unprofessional conduct as defined in sections 4301(d) and 

(e) in that Respondents clearly furnished excessive amounts of controlled substances by reason of 

the following facts: 

:Patient B.B. 

31. On or about August 28,2002, Respondents :filled prescription 835221 for 

OxyContin 80mg to Patient B.B. which was beyond the recommended dose and dosing 

frequency. 

Patient K.B. 

32. From September 20, 2002 to October 29, 2002, Respondents filled 

prescriptions 836842~ 839522, and 841553 for large quantities of Roxicodone 30mg. to Patient _ 

K.B. 

Patient T.M. 

33. On or about February 13, 2003, Respondents filled prescription 847302 

for OxyContin 80mg to Patient T.M. which was beyond the recommended dose and dosing 

frequency. On or about January 31, 2003, Respondents filled prescription 84624lfOT OxyContin 

80mg to Patient T.M. which was beyond the recommended dose and dosing frequency. On or 

abont January 6, 2002, Respondents filled prescription 844299 fot OxyContin 80mg to Patient 

T.M. which was beyond the recommended dose and dosing frequeD.cy. On or about Decem.ber 

12, 2002, Respondents failed to properly dispense prescription 842666 for Patient T.M. in that 

they dispensed it prior to the consumption ofthe previous prescrjptioll_ 

http:frequeD.cy
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Patient J.R. 

34. ·On or about September 10,2002, Respondents filled prescriptio.n 836087 

for OxyContin 80mg to. Patient lR which was beyo.nd the recommended dose and dosing 

frequency. From August 26, 2002 to. October 28,2002, Respondents fil1ed large quantities of 

OxyContin 80mgfor prescriptions 835044, 836087, 837624, and 839323. 

35. From February 6, 2002 to March 11, 2003, Respondents filled prescri.ption 

842671 for Dilaudid 8mg to Patient J.R. which was beyond the recommended dose and dosing 

frequency. Respondents filled large quantities ofDilaudid 8mg. for prescription 835671. 

36. From February 6, 2002 to March 11,2003, Respondents filled large 

quantities ofRoxicodone 30mg for prescriptions 834513, 835045" 836089,837029, and 842670 

to :Patient lR. 

Patient C.S. 

37. From August 21,2002 to February 10, 2003, Respondents 'filled 

prescriptions 836420, 838347, 840637,843319,845289,847020 for large quantities of 

OxyContin 80mg to 'Patient C.S. Tn addition, Respondents filled prescriptions 834787, 836419, 

838346, 840636,843317, 843987, 845287 and 847022 for large quantities of Roxicodone 30mg 

to Patient c.s. 
Patient D.S. 

38. From February 6, 2002 to March 1.1; 2003~ Respondents filled 

prescriptions for Actiq 1600 meg to Patient D.S. which was beyond the Tecommended dose and 

dosing freqnency. Respondents filled large quantities of360 Actiq 1600mcg lozenges for 

prescriptions 821016, 824507, 833274, 833855, 835399,837795.839696,841656,842511 and 

844496 to Patient D.S. Actiq is only prescribed for the management ofbreakthrough cancer pain 

in patients with malignancies. Patient D.S. did not have cancer nor did she have a history of 

cancer. 

39. From February 6, 2002 to March 11, 2003, Respondents filled 

prescription 833275 for OxyContin 80m.g to Patient D.S. which was beyond the recom.mended 

dose and dosing frequel.1cy. Respondents filled large quantities of OxyColltin for prescription.s 
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821977,824509,832350,833275: 833857,835400,837796, 841656, 842572,843535, and 

844495 to Patient D.S. 

40. Frorn February 6,2002 to March 1.1, 2003, Respondents failed to properly 

fin controlled substance prescriptions when they dispensed large qualitites of concunent]y 

multiple controlled substances to Patient D.S. During this period, she had a combination of 

Actiq 1600 meg, OxyContln 80mg and Methadone 10mg. 

Patient L.T. 

41. On or about March 6,2003, Respondents fined prescription 848840 for 

large quantities ofDilaudid 8mg to Patient L.T. 

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Failure to Properly Dispense Prescriptions) . 

42. Respondent Zalez-Simon has subjected her license to discipline pursuant 

o sectjon 4301 for unprofessional conduct as defined in section 4301(d) and in conjunction with 

Health and Safety Code section 11153 as set forth hereinabove at paragraphs 30 thIOl,.lgh 41 in 

that Respondents knew or had reason to know that the prescli.ptions were not for legitimate 

medical purposes. 

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Incompetence) 

43. Respondent Zalez-Simon has subjected her license to discipline pursuant 

to section 4301 for unprofessional conduct as defined in section 4301 (b) for incompetence in that 

RespODdent Zalez-Simon failed to document that she consulted with either the patients or 

physician as to the increase in the prescriptions as set forth hereinabove at paragraphs 30 through 

41. 

FOURTH CAUSE FORDISCTPLINE 


(Deviating from the Requirements of a Prescription) 


44. Respondent Zalez-Simon has subjected her license to discipline pursuant 

to section 4301 for unprofessional conduct as deflned in section 4301(0) and in conjunction with 

Cali.fornia Code ofRegulations, title 16, section 171.6, in that on May 10,2002, when 
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Respondent Zalez-Simon filled prescription 827661, she changed the dosage and strength of the 

presoription without the prior consent of the prescriber. 

FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Failure to Review Patient Profiles) 

45. Respondents Pharmacy and Zalez-Simon have subj ected their licenses to 

discipline pursuant to section 4301 for unpr.ofessional conduct as defined in section 4301(0) and 

in conjunction with California Code ofRegulations, title 16, section 1707.3 in that Respondents 

did not review patients medication profile before furnishing medi.cation. A review of the refills 

dispensed revealed frequent visits by patients to Respondent Pharmacy to obtain more narcotic 

type cOl1troUed substances as set forth hereinabove at paragraphs 31 through 41. Respondents 

knew or had objective reasons to know that said refills were not isslled for legitimate medical 

purposes and that the quantities dispensed did not constitute a reasonable amount sufficient to . 

maintain the patient until the prescriber could be contacted. 

SIXTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

. (Failure to Maintain Acourate Accountability) 

46. Respondents Pharmacy and Zalez-Simon have sllbj ected their licenses to 

discipline pursuant to section 4301 for unprofessional condll.ct as defined in section 4301 U) and in 

violation of sections 4081(a) and (b) in conjunction with Caljfornia Code of Regulatiolls, title 16, 

section 1718 and Health and Safety Code section 11208 in that R.espondents failed to maintain 

compliance: and control over drug inventory and failed to maintain accurate records of 

acquisitions and disposition of controlled substances. An audit was conducted for the time 

period of February 6, 2002 through March 11., 2003. The audit revealed that Respondents did not 

m.aintain accurate records of acquisition and disposition of controlled substances as follows: 

a. An overage of800 tablets of Roxicodone 30mg. 

b,' A shortage of 982 tablets OxyContin SR 80mg. 

http:condll.ct
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SEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Failure to Submit Prescription Information) 

47, Respondents Pharmacy and Zalez-Simon have subj ected their licenses to 

discipline pursuant to sectio114301 for unprofessional conduct as defined in sections 4301(1) and 

(0) in violation of section 4113(b) and in conjunction with California Code ofRegulations, title 

16, section 171S.S(a) and Health and Safety Code section 11165 in that from July 2001 to March 

11; 2003, Respondents failed to snbmit prescription infonnation for all Scheduled n controlled 

substances to the. ControlledSubstance Utilization Review and Evaluation System as required by 

law. 

EIGHTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Furnishing Controlled Substances without a Prescription) 

48. Respondents Phannacy and Zalez-Simon have SUbjected their licenses to 

discipline pursuant to section 4301 as defined in sections 4301(e) and (f) for unprofessional 

conduct and in violation of section 4059 by filling prescriptions fOT Patient R.S. withont a 

prescrjptlon and/or authorization of the prescriber in violation of section 4063 as follows: 

a: On July 29~ 2002, August 14,2002, August 29, 2,002, September 9, 2002, . 

September 13, 2002 and October 11,2002, Respondents filled prescription 833105 for Lortab 

lOmg/500mg without a prescription. 

b. On June 19,2002, and July 24,2002, Respondents refilled prescription 

828982 for Lortab lOmg/500mg without obtaining authorization from the prescliber. 

NINTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Gross Negligence) 

49. Respondent Zalez-SiIDon has subjected her license to discipline pursuant 

to section 4301 as defined in section 4301(c) for gross negligence in that Respondent, without 

proper documentation, made early refills ofprescriptioTls for Patient R.S. as follows: 

Prescription No. Early Dispensing Date 

822513 March g, 2002 

822513 AprilS,2002 



5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

2 

3 

4 

6 

7 

8 

9 

11 

12 

13 

1.4 

J6 

17 

18 

19 

21 

22 

23 

24 

26 

27 

28 

DEC--03-2003 14: 1E:, 8TT .HlER8L [IFF I CE 2138975320 P.40 

827367 May 10, 2002 

828982 May 29,2002 

828982 May 31,2002 

828982 June 19,2002 

828982 June 24, 2002 

828982 June 27,2002 

828982 July 1,2002 

831578 July 5, 2002 

831578 July 8, 2002 

831578 July 15, 2002 

831578 July 18, 2002 

831578 July 19,2002 

831578 July 22. 2002 

836415 September 13, 2002 

TENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

. (Failure 
- -. -. ~ 

to Remove Expired Drugs) . 

50. Respondents Phannacy and Zalez-Simon have subjected their licenses to 

discipline pursuant to section 4301 for unprofessional conduct in violation of section 4342(a) and 

inconju1Jction with California Code ofRegulations, title 16, section 1716.2(a)(3) in that 

Respondents failed to remove expired dangerous drugs from their invent01Y that contained an 

expiration date greater than180 days for compound dangerous drugs as follows: 

a. On March 11,2003, during an inspection at Respondent Pharmacy, Board 

inspectors found numerous bottles and vials of com.pound drugs bearing expiration dates beyond 

the pemlissible 180 day period. 

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES 

51. To determine the degree of discipline, if any, to be imposed on. 

Respondent Zalez-Simol1, Complainant further alleges by way of aggravation that Respondent 

Zalez-Simon offered Patient R.S. money if she could get a doctor to write prescriptions for dmgs. 
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Respondent Za1ez-Simon told Patient R.S. that she knew of a doctor who would write these 

prescriptions for her. 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Complainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein 

alleged, <'U1d that following the hearing, the Board ofPhannacy issue a dec1s1on: 

1. Revoking or suspending Original Pharmacy Number Permit No_ PHY 

45269, issued to Tot Pharmacy, dba All Med Drugs; 

2_ Revoking or suspending Pharmacist Number RPH 41523, issued to Carol 

Marie Zalez-Simon; 

3. Ordering Tot Pharmacy and Carol Marie Zalez-Simon to pay the Board of 

Phannacy the reasonable costs of the investigation and enforcement of this case, pursuant to 

Bns1ness and Professions Code section 125.3; 

4. Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper. 

DATED: IOk'/()l 

<-f14dtti (ir.f/Jl 
P j{TRICIA F. HARRIS~ 
Executive Officer 
Board ofPharmacy 
Department of Cons'Urner Affairs 
State of California 
Complainant 
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